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REFORMING THE WRIGHT AMENDMENT

Wednesday, July 12, 2006

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, SUBCOMMITTEE ON AVIATION,
COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION AND INFRASTRUCTURE,

WASHINGTON, D.C.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 2:02 p.m., in room

2167, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. John L. Mica [Chair-
man of the subcommittee] Presiding.

Mr. MICA. Good afternoon. I would like to call this hearing of the
House Aviation Subcommittee to order. Welcome everybody here
today. Today the subcommittee will hear testimony about the ef-
forts to reform the Wright amendment. That is the subject of our
hearing. The order of business will be opening statements from
members of the subcommittee, and then we will hear from a panel
of Members of Congress who are interested in today’s subject. Most
of them are from Texas, then we have a second panel and a third
panel, so a full schedule today. With those comments, and let me
say also, if anyone would like to add testimony to the record of this
hearing, they can do so through the Chair at the request of the
committee, and Mr. Costello moves that we keep the record open
for a period of 2 weeks. Without objection so ordered.

So we welcome members and others who have comments they
want immediate part of the official proceedings to be included
through request of the Chair. So I will start the proceedings, and
I have got a hopefully brief statement and then we will yield to
other members. Today our subcommittee will hear testimony on a
locally initiated and locally approved so-called agreement that
seeks to change and eventually proposes to eliminate the long-
standing Wright amendment. As most of us know, the Wright
amendment has restricted commercial air passenger service out of
Dallas Love Field for now some 3 decades. Today we will examine
the terms of a June 15 compromise reached by the cities of Dallas
and Fort Worth Texas, and also hear from the affected airlines,
American Airlines and Southwest Airlines, which, among other
things, you will find will lift existing geographic restrictions on
commercial air service at Love Field after some 8 years, and that,
I think, stretches out to 2014. The Wright amendment, as modified
by Congress over the years, currently restricts commercial air serv-
ice out of Love Field to cities in Texas and some 8 surrounding
States. Enacted in 1979, the Wright amendment was essentially a
legislative compromise crafted by the cities of Dallas and Fort
Worth Texas and Fort Worth International Airport, DFW, South-
west Airlines, and others.
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The Wright amendment was intended to end a long-standing
legal dispute over Southwest’s desire to provide inner State service
out of Love Field, and at the same time, help spur growth at the
then new regional airport DFW. In my 13 years in Congress, I have
been a strong advocate and defender of public policy that promotes
free markets and economic deregulation. I have long believed that
the Wright amendment, along with other existing barriers should
be repealed. These types of restrictions, in my opinion, constitute
undue Federal interference with the market’s ability to reflect con-
sumer preferences. However, because the Wright amendment was
locally generated many years ago in a different time and cir-
cumstances, it is fitting that it is unraveling now as being gen-
erated in a different time and under different circumstances by a
locally generated agreement, and this is tough, especially for Mem-
bers of Congress, to bring agreements before us and have us try to
sort of divide the pie up and the baby, so to speak, and we are
pleased that there has been these generations from the local level
of an agreement.

It is clearly in the best interest of consumers for the invisible
hands of the marketplace, not the heavy hands of Congress or the
Federal bureaucrats, to set air fares and service options. I believe
we should remove this barrier as soon as we can, and we should
not stop just with what we are doing today. As part of next year’s
FAA reauthorization legislation, we should address other onerous
anti competitive service restrictions that are currently on the books
and eliminate any remaining Federal laws and regulations that
prohibit airlines from serving the routes sought by competitive car-
riers and the travelling public. As I suggested earlier, I prefer to
see the Wright amendment repealed immediately. However, the po-
litical reality is that without the Love Field, the proposal that is
coming forth today and being considered here today, the 35-year-
old Cold War waged by the affected cities, airlines and commu-
nities will continue indefinitely, and that is something we do not
want.

By ultimately eliminating one of the most significant remaining
barriers to domestic aviation competition albeit some 8 years, the
Wright amendment compromise could help set the stage for com-
plete deregulation of our domestic aviation system, which would be
for the benefit of consumers and community across the country. Be-
fore legislation to implement some of the terms of the agreement
can be crafted, it is incumbent upon this panel to ensure that the
safety implications of any increased operations in the air space
around Love Field and DFW airports is also addressed. I must
point out that some have suggested this agreement only benefits
two airlines and could be interpreted as somewhat anti competi-
tive. I look forward to hearing from our witnesses today, and I
think it is appropriate that we have a full open hearing on all of
these issues, and I would like to yield to our ranking member, Mr.
Costello.

Mr. COSTELLO. Mr. Chairman, thank you and I welcome our wit-
nesses today, our colleagues and other witnesses who will be testi-
fying here at this hearing. Mr. Chairman, I will be brief. I will sub-
mit my statement for the record. As I said, we have a number of
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witnesses, so I am hoping that members on our side will be brief
as well and submit their full statement for the record.

Mr. Chairman, I will not go over the history of the Wright
amendment. We all know how it came about with a 1979 agree-
ment between the cities of Dallas and Fort Worth. Since then, the
Wright amendment at the time was a logical step in my opinion
when enact in 1979 to bring stability to the north Texas air mar-
ket. Further, it allowed southwest to carve a niche at Love Field,
while American built, its hub at Dallas Fort Worth. I have sup-
ported the Wright amendment as the proper way to enhance the
Dallas Fort Worth growth and development. The airport, in turn,
has done its part by fueling the regional economy.

However, today, Dallas Fort Worth is far from a small regional
airport. As an international airport, its influence is far reaching
and has become a major player in markets that other airlines could
not serve from Love Field. As a result, for many years, people have
sought to repeal the Wright amendment. But it has been my belief
that if we were going to consider changes to the Wright amend-
ment, that it should come from local officials at the local level, from
mayors, county officials, and other interested parties.

And if they, in fact, reached an agreement then and only then
should Congress become involved. The piecemeal approach that we
have seen in the past for years with certain States being exempted
or repealed from the Wright amendment, in my judgment, has been
ineffective and is poor public policy.

On June 15, the parties that we will hear from today reached an
agreement. They have all agreed to seek full repeal of the Wright
amendment with several conditions. Soon after Chairman Young,
Mr. Oberstar, yourself, Mr. Chairman, and other members of this
subcommittee had the opportunity to sit down with our colleagues
from Texas and other local elected officials and others to be briefed
on the agreement.

This is a significant compromise, and I think as our friend Herb
Kellaher said it at our briefing, he said if we can come together all
of these parties and reach an agreement, surely we can achieve
world peace. I want to tell you that I am pleased that we are fol-
lowing regular order, that we are going through the process of this
hearing today, going through the authorizing process. There are
many who have criticized the Wright amendment for restraining
free market competition. I have heard from others who believe that
this new agreement poses similar competitive hurdles.

I am interested in hearing from our witnesses and their re-
sponses to those concerns about any restrictive hurdles on competi-
tion. Further, I know that our colleagues, Mr. Oberstar, who has
been involved with the Wright amendment since the very first day
it was enacted, has major concerns about the safety aspect of this
agreement and I am sure that we will hear from him concerning
those concerns as far as safety is concerned in the agreement. And
I thank you once again, Mr. Chairman, for calling this hearing and
look forward to hearing from our witnesses.

Mr. MICA. Thank you, Mr. Costello.
Mr. Duncan.
Mr. DUNCAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and thank

you for calling this hearing and bringing everyone together. This



4

is an important step in this process. Mr. Costello just mentioned
that Mr. Oberstar goes back to the very beginning of this. I do not
go back nearly that far, but I have been on this subcommittee for
18 years, and in all that time, I have had almost every years dis-
cussions or meetings about the Wright amendment. In fact, just a
few weeks ago, Mr. Kellaher came to my office and we had a very
fine meeting I thought and I told him at that time, I hope some
type of a compromise could be reached. So I am very encouraged
by being to the point where we are today.

In no significant legislation does anyone get everything that they
want or desire, but it seems that people are being a little more rea-
sonable now than perhaps at any time before this, and I will say
that my own major airport in Knoxville that has had concerns
about this all along has told me that they support the agreement,
at least as far as it goes to this point.

So I just wanted to be very brief in my comments and say that
I commend everyone who has worked so hard to help us reach
what appears to be a compromise that is acceptable to a great ma-
jority of the people, but we will listen to any concerns that anyone
has and see if this agreement needs to be tweaked or modified in
some way. But I thank you for calling this hearing and I look for-
ward to hearing the witnesses. Thank you.

Mr. MICA. Thank you, Mr. Duncan. One of those affected from
Texas, Mrs. Bernice Johnson, a senior member of our panel.

Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank
you, Mr. Ranking Member and chairman of the subcommittee, and
all of those who are present. In addition to your representative sub-
committee staff, my staff and the Senate staff of Senator Hutch-
inson have been working continually attempting to get this legisla-
tion done. In using the instructions of the agreement, this is very,
very important to the north Texas area, and we appreciate all the
courtesies that have been extended. Of course, less than a month
ago, the city of Dallas, city of Fort Worth, Southwest Airlines,
American Airlines, and DFW International Airport, reached an
agreement to resolve long-standing issues regarding the Wright
amendment.

As you know, the Wright amendment imposes long haul flight re-
strictions to and from Dallas Love Field airport locate within the
heart of my Congressional district. Of course, the original agree-
ment said it would phase out. That was what was agreed to be-
tween the cities of Dallas and Fort Worth in the beginning so they
were doing pretty well to be flying at all because of the Wright
amendment. But the agreement marks an important milestone as
efforts to repeal the restrictions over the past decades has served
as a major points of contention in the north Texas stake holders.

And I know, Mr. Subcommittee Chair, that I have always known
your attitude about this Wright amendment, so I am glad it didn’t
come before you, but we had it blocked at the other end. To have
all the aforementioned entities in solidarity behind this amend-
ment that ultimately lifts long haul flight restrictions in Dallas
Love Field is nothing really short of amazing.

As my north Texas colleagues will elaborate on many of the key
aspects of the agreement, I will not be repetitive. However, I would
like to impress upon the following, my fellow subcommittee mem-
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bers. It is important to note that the Wright amendment was the
direct result of a community-crafted compromise between Dallas,
Fort Worth regarding two north Texas airports. 32 years ago, north
Texas, upon the recommendation of the Civil Aeronautics Board,
decided that DFW airport would be the region’s primary travel in-
vestment. This decision is captured in the 1968 Regional Airport
Concurrent Bond Ordinance adopted by the cities of Dallas and
Fort Worth. I will ask unanimous consent to enter that into the
record.

At this time, Mr. Chairman, I ask you also for unanimous con-
sent to enter some other correspondence here from various cham-
bers that are supporting this agreement.

Mr. MICA. Without objection so ordered.
Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Thank you. I will forego most of my

written testimony and ask unanimous consent to put it in the
record. I support the agreement. I support the agreement because
I think that it has been made by the proper entities involved. It
requires give and take. I doubt if any of the stakeholders got all
that they wanted, but that is what an agreement and a com-
promise is and those of us who sit here know that. So many of the
home owners and constituents groups that reside within the Love
Field area also support the agreement, and I am going to ask, Mr.
Chairman, unanimous consent to enter the written testimony sub-
mitted by Miss Laurie Palmer on behalf of the Love Field Citizens
Action Committee.

Mr. MICA. Without objection so ordered.
Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. It is a coalition of residents and neigh-

borhoods in the Love Field impact area. The organization was es-
tablished in 1980 to address the airport’s adverse environmental
impact on the large and densely populated community that sur-
rounds the airport. Also, there are many schools in the area, and
I think that as long as we address the safety, the historical mem-
ber of this committee has made that a number one concern, and it
is mine as well, and I think that we will have language that will
meet the guidelines of the FAA.

So I am hoping that all of us would listen attentively, and then
next week when we have the markup, hopefully it will be some-
thing we all can support. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. MICA. I thank the gentlewoman. We will now hear from an-
other distinguished member of our panel, a gentleman from Texas,
and that is Mr. Marchant.

Mr. MARCHANT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. We appreciate the
fact that you are taking this bill in regular order, and very much
appreciate the fact that you have expedited this hearing to accom-
modate us. Thank you to the mayors for being here today and the
members of the north Texas community, the debate over the
Wright amendment and its repeal in this committee has been a
great concern in my district.

My district is basically composed of the Dallas Fort Worth Inter-
national Airport and the surrounding towns and cities. American
Airlines supports 7,300 jobs in my district. The airport itself sup-
ports 268,000 jobs in the greater Dallas Fort Worth area. The
metroplex depends very heavily on DFW Airport as does my dis-
trict. Therefore, it should come as no surprise to you today that
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this is the number one business issue in district 24. The debate has
put airline against airline, airport against airport, and city against
city and even split the opinions of our very close-knit north Texas
delegation.

Since elected to Congress a year ago, a year and a half ago, and
up until this agreement was reached, I have been firmly in favor
of the keeping the Wright amendment in place. However, I have
also stated that if we are going to come to an agreement on any
change to the Wright amendment, it should be worked out on a
local level. Due to the hard work of the mayors of Dallas and Fort
Worth and along with the elected officials and business leaders
that are here that will testify later today, the agreement has been
presented to Congress and has my support.

I believe this agreement is a good compromise between the stake-
holders. All parties gave some ground on all issues, and all parties
have something to lose if they break the agreement. In a word, this
agreement is balanced. The fact that this agreement is balanced is
a positive in that it encourage all parties involved with the two air-
ports to support it. However, the flip side of this is if one cog in
the machine is moved or taken out of place by Congress, the whole
agreement is in jeopardy.

Hopefully very soon, identical bills mirroring the agreement to
repeal the Wright amendment will go to the House and Senate. I
have no doubt that every step along the way, attempts will be
made to change these bills. I would like to take this opportunity
to urge the Members of Congress to respect the agreement as it has
been reached and allow these bills to become law without becoming
significantly changed. Only then will we be able to put this debate
behind in our area.

Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to give a state-
ment, but I will have to say that in the last 2 days, I have had
several meetings, and it appears that there has been one issue that
has surfaced that we as a north Texas delegation have not been
able to discuss, and it is the 80-mile rule. And I am looking forward
to the testimony today to help me as a committee member clarify
the impact of the 80-mile rule. Thank you.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. Mr. Holden from Pennsylvania.
Mr. HOLDEN. Thank you. I thank you and the ranking member

for having this hearing today, and I want to commend our col-
leagues sitting before us today for coming to this agreement re-
garding the permanent rules at Love Field. With that said, I do
have some concerns, Mr. Chairman. There are only three airports
with perimeter rules, Washington National, LaGuardia and Love
Field. US Airways, one of our Nation’s leading airlines, had one of
the perimeter rules at National and LaGuardia removed for years,
and have long urged that the issue of perimeters be dealt with at
one time.

However, here we are suddenly having Congress about to alter
conditions for Love Field only removing a barrier on ticketing for
another of our Nation’s leading airlines, Southwest, and setting a
time for the abolishment of the perimeter rule and tearing down
of some gates. The perimeter rule at Washington National has long
been a problem for US Airways, and I ask the chairman to con-
sider, as we move forward, in trying to help our colleagues at Love
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Field that we consider the perimeter rules at Washington National
and LaGuardia as well. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, I yield back.

Mr. MICA. Thank you, Mr. Ehlers.
Mr. EHLERS. Thank you. Mr. Chairman, when I first arrived in

the Congress 12 years ago, I learned two things, and one is never
get crosswise with a bunch of Texans, and secondly, that the
Wright amendment is a very strange document. It only makes
sense in the context of the times, but probably should never have
been adopted. In spite of the first rule, I am still going to speak
up and say I think this agreement is a major problem.

Well, let me add another principal that I have, and that is to
never interfere with free enterprise unless you can do it in a totally
fair way with all parties involved. The proposal, as I read it, is not
totally fair in all ways. It favors some airlines over other airlines,
and my colleague from Pennsylvania just said basically the same
thing. I think we have to proceed very, very carefully and very de-
liberatively on this proposal and examine the ramifications beyond
Texas, beyond Love Field, beyond Dallas Fort Worth Airport.

It is a complex issue that is going to affect several different air-
lines frankly in a negative way as a result of the way the agree-
ment is formulated and written, and I certainly want very thor-
ough and complete examination of all the implications of this be-
fore we proceed. Maybe he can be persuaded, but I certainly have
to know a lot more about the impact on other airlines before I could
favorably look upon this document. With that, I would yield back.

Mr. FILNER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do want to say I know
Jim Wright. Jim Wright is a friend of mine, but the Wright amend-
ment is wrong. And I know the chairman will find great difficulty
in believing this, but we agree on the fact that this amendment
should be abolished. This amendment does not only affect Texas,
with all due respect, to my Texan friends. California is affected
also.

I represent the city of San Diego, I should say as a disclaimer
I have as many frequent flyer miles on American as I do on South-
west. But San Diego has a love affair with Southwest Airlines. It
has taken a cul-de-sac city as we really may be geographically and
opened all of California and much of the country to our citizens for
quick and effective airplane travel and low prices. We could go up
to L.A. or San Francisco for lunch and be back to another city for
dinner and be back in time to go to sleep in San Diego because of
Southwest. So we were anxious to have it repealed. But if this com-
promise is as the chairman said, what we all can agree on then
let’s go forward with it.

Mr. MICA. I have one more Texan, Mr. Poe, who is on our panel
and then I will try to get to you all who are waiting.

Mr. Poe.
Mr. POE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for having these hearings.

This really has become a family feud and the families sat down to-
gether and broken bread and called a truce. And I do not want to
be another Texas within involved in this family feud that has ap-
parently been settled so I agree with the compromise, the truce,
the truce that has been agreed upon among the family and I think
it should be approved. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.
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Mr. MICA. Thank you. Mr. Oberstar is the ranking member of
the Committee on Transportation and Infrastructure.

Mr. OBERSTAR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is important for
this committee to deal with this issue legislatively to have this
hearing rather than have the Love Field Wright amendment issue
eroded piecemeal as it has been over a period of years without a
view to the larger national aviation context in which this issue
must be discussed, but a good deal of talk about stakeholders.
Stakeholders are not just the cities of Dallas and Fort Worth, nor
the airlines or the airport authorities. The stakeholders are all
Americans. If you approve a law in Massachusetts it does not do
much for traffic in California, but if you improve an airport, if you
add a 5,700 foot runway at Logan field it does make traffic from
the west coast more accessible to the east coast to Boston because
of the nature of the air travel.

Similarly, dealing with the Dallas DFW Airport and the Love
Field Airport is a national aviation matter. It is not just a local
issue. And we have to be very careful and very thoughtful about
how we approach this issue. And I will not go back and recite the
history of the agreement between Dallas and Fort Worth nego-
tiated by Najib Halaby when he was administrator of FAA, and
under President Kennedy when Kennedy had just started the in-
crease in funding for aviation to invest in airport and runway and
taxiway improvement to expand aviation in the United States.
That history is told in hearings that I held in 1991 in great deal
with Najib Halaby himself testifying.

There are two issues. One is safety, the second is competition.
There is a fairness issue that Jim Wright attempted to deal with
in what we know as the Wright amendment holding both cities to
the agreement they negotiated rather than let one run out on it
and the other be stuck with an economic problem on its hands.
That is now being resolved by the two cities who have come to an
agreement.

The safety issues is a real concern. Now, DFW has gone to a
four-corner, four-post approval sequencing that has made it much
safer for operations at Love Field that are only 8 miles away from
DFW, and aircraft are only 2 miles apart from each other on arriv-
al and departure patterns, and that has been adequately docu-
mented in the hearings we held in 1991.

The FAA will be here, I hope, with some slides that will show
and I have those documents it will show that they can manage the
air space safely. Do not forget Love Field is not just a little hick
airport. It has 235,000 operations a year. That would be the envy
of any other airport in the country except for a handful. And there
is well over 300, 400,000 at DFW and headed upward.

So first is managing that air space safely. The FAA will testify
that they are able to do that. The second is managing the competi-
tion safely. This agreement says we are going to have only 20
gates, terminate others, raises questions about who is going to
come in and compete in this future opened up competitive airport,
Love Field. In the Wright amendment, we legislated a limitation on
service and competition. But if the agreement entered into by the
community is ratified in law, then we will, for the first time in this
country have legislated the number of operations at an airport. We
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will have legislated the amount of competition that can be entered
into at an airport. We have seen the effects of the cap on oper-
ations at O’Hare Airport, at LaGuardia, at National Airport, and
the slot rules resulted in something totally perverse.

Airlines acquired financial interest and equity in the slots that
they owned, they were able to buy and sell slots. They were able
to trade them as part of their equity and acquire monetary value.
Will the same thing occur with those gates? And how will new com-
petition come into Love Field? How will the next generation of low
fair competitive airlines come in to challenge the brilliant South-
west Airlines or the gigantic American Airlines? Where is room for
competition? I want to hear this. We are going to have a very lively
discussion about it later on as we proceed with this hearing. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. MICA. Thank you, if I may take, I still have a request from
one of our members here to speak. I know Mr. Barton is engaged
in a markup, and I think we could extend a courtesy to Chairman
Barton to present his statement at this time. Then I will come back
and then we will go to Mr. Hall and down the panel if we could.
Mr. Barton you are recognized. Thank you.

TESTIMONY OF THE HON. JOE BARTON, A REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS

Mr. BARTON OF TEXAS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is a privi-
lege to appear before what appears to be a majority of the House
of Representatives on your subcommittee. If you get any bigger,
you will have to meet on the House floor, which you are probably
already doing any way.

I am going to ask that my statement, formal statement be sub-
mitted to the record.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, so ordered.
Mr. BARTON OF TEXAS. I am going to be very brief because I do

have a markup in my committee we are chairing, on adding a
bitterant to anti freeze to make it impossible or more difficult for
children and animals to drink it and be poisoned.

I do not think it has been any secret that I have been a pro-
ponent of keeping the Wright amendment as it is. I think it has
been good public policy for the last 30-some odd years. I think it
would continue to be good public policy if we were not to amend
it in any way. Having said that, the stakeholders in the DFW area
have come together in a good faith effort after strenuous negotia-
tion and come to a proposed agreement that I think should super-
sede the Wright amendment. The gist of it has got three basic legs.
One, you will have ultimate repeal of the Wright amendment in 8
years, so those of you that are for repeal, you get it. You just do
not get it today. You get it 8 years from now.

Second, since you do not get total repeal right away you get
through ticketing at Southwest out of Love Field and any other air-
line that serves Love Field, that should have an immediate impact
on competitive pricing at all airports in the region. In order to give
some certainty to the DFW Airport, there would be an agreement
that Love Field would never have more than 20 gates in operation.
They have a master plan at Love Field that could allow for, I be-
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lieve, as many as 42 gates before DFW. Love Field, at one time,
I believe, had 55 gates. There are currently 15 or 16 gates in oper-
ation, so the 20-gate limitation would give some ability to expand
at Love Field, but it would not give it the ability to expand to a
huge amount. Those will be the main components. Through
ticketing immediately, 8-year repeal, 20-gate limitation.

The strongest reason to support this agreement, in my opinion,
is because of the parties that have negotiated it. You have the may-
ors of both the cities of Dallas who owns 2/3 of DFW and 100 per-
cent of Love Field supporting it. You have the mayor of Fort Worth,
and I should say the city council of both cities. I believe they have
both formally endorsed the agreement. You have the two airlines
that are headquartered in the DFW area, Southwest in Dallas, and
American in Fort Worth that have also strongly endorsed the
agreement. It is my understanding that Continental, that is
headquartered in Houston, Texas, while they are not a signatory
to the agreement, is supportive of the agreement.

If we accept this, I think what you are going to see is the cre-
ation of what I would call a superregional airport. You will have
five terminals at DFW, A, B, C, D, and E, and you will have one
terminal at Love Field.

As the crow flies, that is a distance of about 9 miles, but by
Texas standards I know people who have bigger back yards than
that. So what you are going to have is five terminals at DFW, and
one terminal at Love. You are going to have the ability for through
ticket. You are going to have the ability for other low cost airlines
to come in, certainly to DFW, and I would love to have Southwest
go out to DFW. So we will get a good regional airport, we will get
a superregional international airport, and we will have peace and
harmony for all the American flying public, not just the DFW area.

There are some issues outstanding. Mr. Oberstar has raised an
issue on safety. It is my understanding that language is being
shared between Mr. Oberstar and Mr. Mica and the FAA that we
can hopefully resolve that. We have an 80-mile perimeter enforce-
ment portion of the agreement that there are some members that
have concerns about we are trying to find a way to work on that.
Having said that, this is a strong agreement. It has been thought-
fully worked out. I would strongly encourage the committee, and
ultimately the full committee, to endorse it legislatively. I look for-
ward to working with the members of this subcommittee and full
committee for doing that. Thank you for the courtesy and allowing
me to testify.

Mr. MICA. Mr. Bachus, you had a quick opening statement, and
then I will get Mr. Hall in before this vote at least.

Mr. BACHUS. Thank you. I would like to associate— I read the
members’ statements. I would like to associate myself, I know Ms.
Granger, I think probably everything you said in your statement I
agree with. I was kind of concerned with what some of the mem-
bers said about this clause 6. I think Congressman Hall and Con-
gressman Burgess had some concerns about some of the outlying
airports, but the bottom line is the parties have agreed to this.

Actually, I am from Alabama, and this may actually hurt us, be-
cause flights used to skip down in Birmingham and then go on to
other places, but I think obviously the traveling public is best
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served by this agreement, and I have to compliment the parties
and plan to enthusiastically support it.

Mr. MICA. Mr. Bachus yields the balance of his time to Ms. Berk-
ley, and then we will get Mr. Hall.

Ms. BERKLEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Very quickly I would
like to submit my opening statement for the record, with the excep-
tion of saying this thing publicly. The Wright amendment is not
the only barrier to competition in place in the airline industry. Fed-
eral law currently limits flight, as we all know, in and out of
Reagan National Airport in Washington to a distance of 1,250
miles, Las Vegas, which I represent, lies outside of this parameter,
and we are therefore at a substantial disadvantage, exemptions
have been granted over the years, but my constituents and those
wishing to visit my wonderful city and enjoy our wholesome family
entertainment are currently limited to one nonstop flight per day
on this route.

I want to congratulate those that are here today who have come
to an agreement on the Wright amendment that we can hopefully
serve as a basis for legislative action, but I am also hopeful that
Congress, and this subcommittee in particular, will act to address
other anti competitive rules that currently are in place, and thank
you all very much for being here.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. You can see this has a lot of interest not
just in Texas. Mr. Hall, I appreciate your waiting patiently. You
are recognized.

TESTIMONY OF THE HON. RALPH HALL, A REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS

Mr. HALL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members and my col-
leagues from Texas. I want to thank you for holding the hearing.
I have been watching Love Field probably longer than anyone in
this room. I remember the days when you could get aboard a plane
at Dallas if you were going to Austin, you would stop at Fort
Worth, you would stop in Waco, and you would finally make the
long trip on in to Austin. There have been some changes since that
time, but we have always had a great airport there. I think the air-
ports are great, Love Field and DFW. And like most Members of
Congress, especially the Texas delegation, we have hoped for a
compromise.

We have wanted a compromise. We have prayed for a com-
promise, because in my district, as I go from county to county, and
people I would ask about the Wright amendment, I found out 80
percent of them were for it and about 80 percent were against it.
And that is not a very good feeling for a guy that is looking for 51
percent. So I am pleased that we are having the hearing.

On Thursday, June 15, the cities of Dallas and Fort Worth,
American Airlines, Southwest Airlines, Love Field and DFW an-
nounced they had reached a deal regarding the Wright amend-
ment, and I have long said that the parties should get together and
broker than agreement. This pursuit has taken place, and is still
taking place. Up to 10 minutes ago, in my office, as I started down
here, we were still working on it. It was an overall agreement that
I desperately want to support. In reading over the agreement, how-
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ever, I have some concerns that I am hoping that the committee
addresses in the legislation.

Section 6 has been alluded to of the agreement that states that
the cites of Dallas and Fort Worth will oppose—basically this says
as I state, ″Efforts to initiate commercial passenger air service at
any area airport other than DFW during the 8-year period to the
extent any other airport within an 80-mile radius seeks to initiate
scheduled commercial passenger service within this 8-year period,
both cities agree to work diligently to bring that service to DFW,
or if that effort fails, then airports owned by the city of Dallas and/
or Fort Worth.″

It is, of course, not surprising that cities compete to bring new
air service to their communities. If another airport in the greater
region were to seek commercial air service, one would expect that
Dallas and Fort Worth would aggressively compete for that busi-
ness. If Dallas and Fort Worth were to work together to oppose the
growth of commercial passenger air service at other airports in the
region, it seems more logical to me that they should do this by pri-
vate agreement between the cities and/or between the airlines and
even record this decision in the city council’s and commissioner’s
court hearings, all supported by their own Chambers of Commerce,
and not give Federal approval and recognition to such an agree-
ment. It should not be encompassed in Federal legislation.

The airports affected by such restriction are not parties to this
agreement and any such disagreement should be between the par-
ties, be it Fort Worth, Dallas, American Airlines or Southwest.

Accordingly, Mr. Chairman, Congress should not give legislative
authority to an otherwise private agreement and send a signal to
the FAA that those not privy to the contract and signers thereof
agree with the 80-mile prohibition. I represent a district that has
seven airports that fall within the statutory 80-mile radius. The
mayors, county judges, airport directors and Chambers of Com-
merce representing these airports strongly oppose this section of
the agreement. And they are strongly working to work it out as is
the Senate.

The Senate sponsors are working hard to work this out. And we
want to work with them and have some give and take and try to
get this thing reconciled. They are rightly alarmed that any at-
tempt to legislate an agreement that restricts their ability to ex-
pand their markets is of great consequence. And Mr. Chairman, I
have letters from all of these people, and I ask unanimous consent
that they be submitted into the record.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, so ordered.
Mr. HALL. While I have a fond regard for Dallas and Fort Worth,

I have been sent to Congress to represent the people in my district.
Many towns in my district have airports. Some small, others have
dreams of growing to midsized facilities. Some of these facilities
have dreams to compete and grow in Northeast Texas. Indeed
Collin and Rockwell Counties are some of the fastest growing coun-
ties in the Nation. This agreement could potentially harm these
communities if Congress legislates these terms, and I cannot sup-
port a bill that harms the citizens I represent, but I want des-
perately to support a bill.
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The American dream does not prohibit competition. It energizes
it. Much of my Congressional district, and especially Rockwell and
Collin Counties are located in the shadow of Dallas County line. I
have always been pro-Dallas, pro-Terrent county. It gives me no
solace to oppose an agreement that I have long hoped for.

In closing, I would just say I would hope that I would not be
forced to make a decision to vote against either city or either air-
line. I am grateful to those who worked out this compromise. I sim-
ply need this one adjustment. I urge the committee to reject legisla-
tion that codifies section 6 of this agreement. I look forward to
working with members of this committee, and Members of the en-
tire Congress, to ensure that the American spirit of competition
thrives. I do thank you and yield back my time.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. Mr. Johnson, we have about 7 minutes.
Did you want to give it 3 or 4 or would you like to come back?

Mr. SAM JOHNSON OF TEXAS. I am willing to try.
Mr. MICA. I will give you about a 3-minute warning. Then we

have three votes, so it will be about 3:15 before we reconvene. Mr.
Johnson, you are recognized.

TESTIMONY OF THE HON. SAM JOHNSON, A REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS

Mr. SAM JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Mr.
Costello. You know we have come a long way in a short time. Only
last May, Jeb Hensarling and I introduced the Right to Fly Act.
Our bill called on Congress to immediately repeal the Wright
amendment. The bill met intense enthusiasm from travellers living
both inside and outside of Texas, so I am thrilled to be here today,
barely one year later, testifying on the future repeal of the Wright
amendment. Jeb and I introduced the bill because we felt that the
cornerstone of free enterprise is the freedom to fly. We introduced
the bill because the 1979 Wright amendment law had outlived its
usefulness. And we introduced the bill because, as you said, Wright
is wrong.

Mr. Chairman, it is not just a handful of Texas members and
thousands of our constituents who think that way. In just a year,
55 representatives from all across America have co-sponsored our
bill and so called ″Southwest effect″ brought to their cities.

Today’s hearings on the current proposal drawn up by the cities
of Dallas and Fort Worth as well as American and Southwest air-
lines is much needed. That is because this is not an automatic in
my book. It seems to me that the cost of getting Dallas Fort Worth
and the two airlines to agree on the solution to the Wright amend-
ment meant new restrictions on other cities around the region,
none of which had a seat at the table, none of which could have
predicted that they would be dragged into this. So essentially, for
the third district, we are looking at what looks like to me the
Wright amendment all over again, or as I have come to call it,
Wright-lite.

Nearly every single one of our constituents encounters the
Wright amendment, that is why I am going to move forward cau-
tiously and thoughtfully. The two biggest concerns I have to do
with are the agreement’s impact on the number of other airports
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in the region, specifically Collin County Regional Airport, and
McKinney. Colin County Regional Airport is a general aviation air-
port that is 27 miles from Love Field that serves as a reliever air-
port for DFW. Under the agreement, specifically in sections 6 and
7, it states the cities of Dallas and Fort Worth would work together
over the next 8 years to oppose any new commercial aviation serv-
ice to any airport within 80 miles of Love Field.

What troubles me is that Dallas and Fort Worth should not be
asking Congress to pass laws that hamstring other cities or coun-
ties. That is just unAmerican. The last thing we need is Congress
giving any city a competitive advantage over another. Creating an
uneven playing field is the wrong thing to do. Free markets do
work. Communities thrive when we keep our nose out of their busi-
ness.

My other concern comes under sections 10 and 11 and under
those sections, the cities state that Southwest and American would
be penalized should they decide to operate commercial air service
at any other airport within 80 miles of Love Field. At first glance
and knowing that the two airlines agreed to these terms, I thought
that I might be able to live with it, but that was before I realized
that will this restriction would not just be in place until the 8 years
repeal. This restriction would be in place until 2025. That is 19
years from now, after the Wright amendment would be repealed.
That is just wrong. That is replacing one unnecessary restriction
with another.

We have a duty to preserve our national aviation system and
Love Field should be no exception. We deregulated the airlines and
it worked. America stands for freedom and free enterprise, not
more government interference. It is my hope that any legislation
we draft and potentially pass through the Congress is written in
such a way to remove Wright-lite proposals on other counties and
cities.

Before I close, I would like to request permission to insert the
testimony from the McKinney mayor, Bill Whitfield.

Mr. MICA. Without objection so ordered.
Mr. SAM JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Thank you, sir. Let’s give America

the right to fly.
Mr. MICA. Thank you, Mr. Johnson. Other members, we have

less than 3 minutes to vote. So if you could keep that path clear
and let the members exit to the left, we will reconvene at 3:15. We
have three votes. This hearing stands in recess.

[recess.]
Mr. MICA. I would like to call the subcommittee back to order,

welcome everyone back. I apologize. Took a little bit longer than we
expected, but if we have to stay here through the night until tomor-
row, we are going to hear this thing through.

The very distinguished gentlelady from Texas, Ms. Granger, if
you are ready to go, we are ready to go. You are welcome and rec-
ognized.

TESTIMONY OF THE HON. KAY GRANGER, A REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS

Ms. GRANGER. Thank you very much, Chairman Mica and rank-
ing members and to the members of this committee. I appreciate
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your agreeing to hold this important hearing to hear about the
local aviation issue. It is an issue, of course, you know so much
about, I have talked to you personally about, Mr. Chairman. It has
developed into a national debate and certainly affects consumers
all across the United States, and we recognize that.

I have been intimately involved with this now for more than 15
years, both as Mayor of Fort Worth and now as a Member of Con-
gress, and wrestled with this, as have the two cities and the air-
lines and the airport. And I am certainly proud the community has
come up with a local solution that will also better serve the na-
tional traveling public, and I think that is exactly what will hap-
pen.

Over the last several months, north Texas has shown both dis-
cipline and cooperation in assembling a thoughtful, comprehensive
solution that meets the aviation travel demand for today and for
the future. What has transpired since last fall has been arduous,
it has been intense, sometimes it has been even painful with all the
stakeholders involved, and as was said earlier, no entity got every-
thing they wanted to but they had to agree to provisions that may
have caused some discomfort in their boardrooms and city halls but
they came together with a good solution.

From my longtime experience with this complex issue, I have
witnessed the negotiations between mayors, airlines, airports and
between differing responsibilities in the Federal Government. In all
my years I have never seen a consensus like we now have before
you in this joint statement of the stakeholders.

I speak for several other mayors who were unable to do this. So
I certainly compliment the two mayors who came together to ham-
mer out this solution.

If you leave with one impression of this joint statement, may it
be this one. Accepting the provisions in a piecemeal fashion is not
a workable solution for achieving the needed critical balance for all
the stakeholders. It has to be adopted in its entirety.

To illustrate the critical nature of this balance I will address one
provision and how its inclusion directly affected the different stake-
holders. As you know, in this local agreement the Wright amend-
ment will be repealed outright 8 years from the enactment of this
Federal legislation. This time allowance is absolutely necessary to
provide operational certainty for the cities, for the airports, and for
the airlines.

The cities of Dallas and Fort Worth must be able to provide sta-
bility for supporting short- and long-term viability of their mutu-
ally shared airport, Dallas/Fort Worth International. The FW Air-
port is directly or indirectly responsible for over 200,000 jobs and
crucial to the north Texas economy. Immediate repeal of the
Wright amendment would cause detrimental effects for the cities as
they work toward keeping the FW strong and building its growth
for the future.

The airports must have time to adjust their master plans in
order to protect air safety and build one long-term business devel-
opment on their properties. This 8-year time period will enable
both Love Field and DFW to make the most of their assets with
considerable improvement to market certainty.
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The airlines must be afforded time to adapt service in existing
and new markets from both airports. Immediate repeal of Wright
could put the north Texas commercial air industry in an economi-
cally harmful state, and it would also deny airports and airlines
the opportunity to react to market changes and passenger pref-
erences after first implementing through-ticketing. In the long run,
a phaseout approach will allow increased choices and competitive
pricing for consumers.

Another important provision in this agreement is to codify the
number of gates out of which Love can operate. Limiting the num-
ber of Love Field gates at 20 operating service gates is important
for air safety, for noise and air pollution, and to the business and
residential community surrounding Love Field. It is also necessary
to keep commitments made by the two cities to each other when
DFW was built. Codifying the number of gates at Love Field was
a key piece to the agreement among the entities, and I support its
inclusion in any Federal legislation.

The Wright amendment and the situation with Love Field and
DFW Airport are unique and require a unique solution and I think
that is what we have. This clarification is important to note be-
cause the stakeholders were tasked with finding a local home-
grown solution to end the Wright amendment debate once and for
all. They found a solution that works for north Texas and to the
advantage of the American consumer.

As a former member of this committee I understand how this
committee works to not only solve issues but to thoughtfully estab-
lish long-term policy with the best interests of commerce and the
traveling public at heart. I believe the joint statement agreed to by
the stakeholders before you today meets those goals as well.

This agreement was reached with a holistic approach to solve the
debate once and for all, and I am very glad to support it and I
wholeheartedly do that. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. MICA. Thank you for your patience.
Now we will hear from another distinguished Texas Representa-

tive, Mr. Hensarling. Welcome, and you are recognized, sir.

TESTIMONY OF THE HON. JEB HENSARLING, A
REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS

Mr. HENSARLING. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Ranking Mem-
ber Costello. Thank you for holding this hearing and for inviting
me to speak.

Last year along with my colleague Sam Johnson, I introduced the
Right to Fly Act which would fully, completely, and immediately re-
peal the Wright amendment. Repeal is important for two reasons.

First, as we know, there are over 500 airports in the U.S. that
have commercial passenger air service. With the exception of
Reagan National which sits on Federal property, Congress in all of
its history has imposed distance limitations on just one airport,
Love Field, and it did it to protect DFW Airport from competition.
I sincerely believe that sort of protectionism is not and should not
be the role of the U.S. Congress.

Secondly, every study of the Wright amendment, regardless of
who commissions it, shows that fares will fall significantly with re-
peal. The U.S. Department of Transportation found that air travel
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in and out of north Texas costs about a third more than the na-
tional average. That is a lot of money our constituents could be
using to pay health care premiums, fill up a car, or pay a utility
bill.

Still, I understand reasonable minds can and have differed on
this subject for almost 30 years. Just witness this panel. Against
this backdrop, the cities of Dallas and Fort Worth as well as DFW
Airport, American Airlines, and Southwest Airlines entered into
negotiations that produced an historic agreement among them. I
salute Mayors Miller and Moncrief for their tenacity and leadership
in forging this consensus agreement.

I view their agreement as great progress. For the flying public,
though, I do not yet view it as a great success. Still, I have always
indicated a willingness to support other plans besides my own as
long as they meet a twofold test. One, the plan clearly benefits con-
sumers; and two, the plan removes Congress from the business of
airport protectionism.

Without seeing final legislative language, it is unclear to me
whether the local agreement will satisfy these criteria.

With respect to helping consumers, I am concerned that the prof-
fered agreement essentially constitutes an 8-year extension of the
Wright amendment. Most citizens in the area, I think, believe that
a 2- to 5-year gradual phaseout represents the reasonable com-
promise. The previously released Campbell-Hill study indicates
that consumers annually pay almost $700 million extra in airfares
due to the Wright amendment. Therefore, an 8-year extension
translates into another $5 billion loss to our constituents. Even by
Washington standards, Mr. Chairman, that is a big number and a
big burden to American families.

On the other hand, I am increasingly convinced that immediate
through-ticketing can positively impact competition in airfares. Al-
though hard data is hard to come by, American Airlines and South-
west Airlines recently commissioned a study on just this topic and
made it available to me yesterday and, Mr. Chairman, I would ask
that this report be made part of the record.

Mr. MICA. Without objection, so ordered.
Mr. HENSARLING. The conclusion of the joint Campbell-Hill and

SH&E study is as follows: Number one, through-ticketing will
produce 259 million in fare savings annually. Two, 2 million new
passengers will travel to and from the region. Number three, this
will create a $2 billion annual boost to the economy.

Now, while I cannot vouch personally for their methodology, I
find this report most encouraging that consumers may see a signifi-
cant and immediate benefit from this part of the local agreement.

I am also concerned that under the agreement, the city of Dallas
has chosen to reduce the number of permissible gates at Love Field
from 33 to 20. Still, it is the city’s airport and I respect its right
to contractually bind itself to do just that. I am further concerned
that under the agreement Southwest Airlines has agreed, perhaps
unenthusiastically, to restrict their Love Field’s flights to the nine
permissible States for 8 years. Still, it is their airline and I respect
their right to contractually bind themselves to do just that.

The combination of the two clearly means that full and imme-
diate repeal will render far fewer consumer benefits than would
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otherwise be the case. Given all of this, if a bill comes to the floor
that grants immediate through-ticketing and full repeal 8 years
now, I will view it as solid progress and I intend to vote for it.

My second concern is getting Congress out of the airport protec-
tionism business once and for all. In the compromise agreement,
the airlines and cities make joint pledges in such areas as gate lim-
itations, international flights, initiating flights within 80 miles of
the airports, and the list goes on. Again, parties have the right to
make contracts but I see no compelling reason for Congress to cod-
ify into Federal law private contractual obligations that are en-
forceable in court. Congress would be replacing one complex set of
anticompetitive rules with another.

Using my colleague Sam Johnson’s phrase, we would end up with
″Wright Lite.″ thus, if a bill comes to the floor that codifies these
specific obligations of the private parties into Federal law, I intend
to vote against it.

In closing, Mr. Chairman, for far too long the Wright amendment
has been a burden on both consumers and the national economy.
Only Congress can repeal Wright, and we should. But if we cannot
reach agreement on doing so today, and it appears we cannot, I do
stand ready to work with any and all parties to codify into Federal
law the immediate through-ticketing and 8-year repeal portions of
the local compromise. Thank you for the opportunity to testify.

Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony.
And now, waiting most patiently—and we probably need a Texas

physician to sum this up— Representative Burgess, you are recog-
nized.

TESTIMONY OF THE HON. MICHAEL BURGESS, A
REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF TEXAS

Mr. BURGESS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for holding
this hearing. It is a pleasure to be back within the humble confines
of the T&I committee room, again the largest standing committee
in the Free World.

Previously it has been stated that for almost 30 years the Wright
amendment—Mr. Chairman, I would point out that is almost my
entire life—for almost 30 years the Wright amendment has pro-
tected a mutual agreement between the cities of Dallas and Fort
Worth. In fact, without the Wright amendment, look at Austin,
look at Denver, look at Atlanta; I am not certain what happened
in Fayetteville, Arkansas with the opening of the Northwest airport
there, but those cities lost their older airport because of agreements
that were entered into by those cities when they opened a larger,
new facility.

I believe in the integrity of the Wright amendment. I believe it
has enabled Dallas/Fort Worth Airport to become the economic en-
gine of north Texas. If we change the terms of the old agreement,
the new law must protect the lives and the livelihoods of tens of
thousands of people who depend on Dallas/Fort Worth Airport.

Our two mayors, Mayor Moncrief and Mayor Miller, have each
worked diligently along with major stakeholders, and I believe they
have entered into a historic agreement that will protect my con-
stituents, constituents throughout north Texas, for better services
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at Love Field and for continued excellent service at Dallas/Fort
Worth Airport.

I do represent a portion of the Dallas/Fort Worth Airport, but I
also represent Alliance Airport and Denton Municipal Airport. I be-
lieve the surrounding airport interests must be protected.

I am pleased that the mayors made a distinction between com-
mercial, passenger service, and cargo service. Additionally, most
unscheduled charter service is not included in the definition of
commercial passenger service; thus, surrounding airports will be
able to continue their cargo and most charter service without dis-
turbance. This is a very important service and I believe we should
take all the necessary measures to protect communities like the
city of Denton.

It should be noted that this agreement only binds the cities of
Dallas and Fort Worth, American Airlines and Southwest Airlines.
It does not bind the neighboring cities within the 80 miles. There-
fore, their autonomy should remain unquestioned. I would oppose
any measure, whether State or Federal, that would obligate other
parties to this agreement. If other parties are subsequently bound
by this agreement or any form of legislation, this would be contrary
to the intent of the agreement.

It is my hope that any proposed legislation will remain silent on
the issue of preemption.

The Dallas Aviation Department has revealed that the depart-
ment has a $20 million budget shortfall within its two most recent
fiscal years combined. While the aviation department has proposed
increasing their landing fees at Love Field from $0.35 to $0.55, the
Dallas taxpayers, not just the traveling public, but the Dallas tax-
payers are still subsidizing this airport. According the Dallas Morn-
ing News, the landing fee increases will bring in over $900,000 to
the city annually. This obviously falls short of offsetting that budg-
et deficit.

Similarly situated midsize airports charge an average of $1.40
landing fees and I do not understand why the city of Dallas has
been reluctant to charge a more fiscally responsible landing fee.
While clause 5 of the new joint agreement does provide the landing
fees will be adjusted to cover much-needed facility and safety im-
provements, it is my hope that the city of Dallas will rise to the
challenge and increase the landing fees to a more appropriate level.

As with any older facility, modifications need to be made to en-
sure the safety of the entire area. An increase in landing fees could
provide for additional safety improvements that would provide for
the well-being of those in and around Love Field, including runway
expansions and over-run barriers. The citizens of Dallas deserve
these safety measures as well as more transparency in the finan-
cial records at Love Field.

While I would have preferred for the Wright amendment to stay
intact, I have always believed that the fate of the Wright amend-
ment should be decided locally between the cities, since they are
the entities that actually own the DFW Airport and Love Field. If
the Wright amendment is to be modified, it should come first from
the local level and not from Washington.

Just a few short months ago the north Texas delegation charged
Mayor Moncrief and Mayor Miller with this most difficult task.
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Considering the history between the two cities, some felt this task
was in fact impossible. However, Mayor Moncrief and Mayor Miller
rose to the challenge and we now have before us a local agreement
signed by all major stakeholders. It is now our opportunity to rise
to the challenge and, if possible, pass legislation that reflects this
agreement. If it is impossible to enact this legislation that reflects
the agreement, then the Wright amendment should stay firmly in-
tact.

Again, Mr. Chairman, I thank you for having this important
hearing. I offer my assistance to you and the committee regarding
the aviation issues that affect my constituents in north Texas.

Mr. MICA. I thank the gentleman. Thank you again for your pa-
tience.

Do we have any other Members that seek recognition on this
issue before us? Normally we don’t question our fellow Members.
You will get a chance, I am sure, as soon as you get off the panel.

I went to a wedding this weekend where the pastor said, Speak
now or forever hold your peace. This is it, ladies and gentlemen.
No one else.

OK. I want to thank each of you for your participation and your
contribution to today’s hearing and we will excuse you at this time.
Thank you.

We will call our first panel: Michael Cirillo, Vice President of
Systems Operations for the Air Traffic Organization of the FAA.
Mr. Cirillo.

This is probably Andrew’s last hearing. I told you I would speak
for you or against you to help you get a job, Andrew. You got it.
We will miss you.

All right, the representative from FAA, thank you for being with
us, and you are recognized at this time.

TESTIMONY OF MICHAEL CIRILLO, VICE PRESIDENT OF SYS-
TEM OPERATIONS, AIR TRAFFIC ORGANIZATION, FEDERAL
AVIATION ADMINISTRATION

Mr. CIRILLO. Thank you, Chairman Mica, Congressman Costello,
and members of the committee. I appear before you today to dis-
cuss the unique operational restrictions now in place at Dallas
Love Field Airport and whether modifying those restrictions
will——

Mr. MICA. It is a little hard to hear. Can you either pull that up
or speak closer?

Mr. CIRILLO. Is that OK?
I appear before you today to discuss unique operational restric-

tions now in place at Dallas Love Field Airport and whether modi-
fying those restrictions will result in a denigration of air space effi-
ciency in the Dallas/Fort Worth area.

The background of the Wright amendment has been well dis-
cussed. The FAA has been asked if safety would be affected by per-
mitting additional flights into and out of Love Field. The agency
has said consistently and repeatedly what I emphasize today: FAA
will never compromise its safety standards to accommodate in-
creased demand.

Our most critical mission is aviation safety, including keeping
aircraft safely separated from one another. Consequently, the only
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question that should be asked from an airspace perspective is
whether further modification to the Wright amendment would com-
promise efficient airspace use in the Dallas/Fort Worth area.

Based on a recent MITRE study requested by FAA of air space
operations if the Wright amendment is repealed and based on
FAA’s validation of MITRE’s findings I can tell you FAA does not
expect the efficient use of airspace will be compromised.

Knowing that the debate on the Wright amendment was ongoing,
FAA contacted MITRE and asked them to assess the impact to effi-
ciency of increased operations at both DFW and Love Field. Results
of the analysis indicate there is significant additional capacity in
the Dallas/Fort Worth terminal area airspace. While additional op-
erations at these airports may increase complexity, many other re-
gions of the country have airspace that is at least this complex. In
each case the potential conflicts are unique to the particular loca-
tion. Factors such as the number of airports in the region, the
number of runways at each port, how they are situated, and the
number and type of operations conducted there are only some of
the considerations that dictate how FAA controls traffic in a given
region. FAA has great flexibility in using a wide range of tech-
nologies and procedures to accommodate the air traffic needs of an
area. Some of you may remember a couple of years ago the number
of operations in Washington-Dulles International Airport signifi-
cantly increased at a time when a new carrier initiated service at
the same airport. At that same time, construction had closed one
runway. FAA was able to implement traffic management initiatives
to efficiently accommodate the increase in demand.

Similarly, the airspace in the Northeast Corridor and southern
Florida is quite congested with several major airports in close prox-
imity.

In addition, Chairman Mica recently held a field hearing in Cali-
fornia to address his concerns that the operational challenges in
that region were being met. I cite these examples to demonstrate
the nature of our business, that FAA is asked on a daily basis to
control traffic and maximize airspace and efficiency in a highly
changeable environment characterized by congested routes, dy-
namic traffic, and volatile weather. Yet, by tailoring our resources
to the unique demands of each situation, we have been able to do
what we are asked, safely and efficiently.

The MITRE study assumed a range of operational increases.
Their conclusion, which FAA has validated, is that it would take
hundreds of additional daily operations at both airports for there
to be reportable volume-related delays. It would take hundreds
more daily flights on top of that to result in what FAA would con-
sider to be significant delays.

It should be noted that their study did not factor delays that
would be attributed to weather. While the MITRE study was based
on unconstrained operations at Love Field, actual operations under
the agreement reached by the parties would in fact be somewhat
constrained by a limit on the number of gates that could be used.
Given this limitation and MITRE’s finding of no significant effect
even in unconstrained conditions, we are confident that the oper-
ational increases that would result from the proposed modification
to the Wright amendment would not result in efficiency problems
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for the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area or the national air-
space system. Even if operations in the area increase beyond what
FAA anticipates, we have options to handle the significant increase
in flights if necessary.

Last month, Russ Chew testified before you about some of the
notable successes of the air traffic organization, one of which was
Area Navigation or RNAV. They provide flight path guidance that
is incorporated into onboard aircraft avionic systems requiring only
minimal air traffic instruction. This technology significantly re-
duces routine controller-pilot communications, allowing more time
on frequency for pilots and controllers to handle other safety-relat-
ed critical flight activity.

Also RNAV procedures use more precise routes for takeoffs and
landings, reducing fuel burn and time intervals between aircraft on
the runways. This creates increased air traffic efficiency, enhances
safety and may allow some increase in air traffic throughput. We
currently have RNAV procedures in place for DFW but not for Love
Field. So establishing it for Love Field is one option available to us
should air traffic demand increase substantially. Should the need
arise, we would also look at modifying flows and sector configura-
tions on a larger scale.

In conclusion, I want to reiterate that FAA’s commitment to safe-
ty means we would never consider sacrificing accepted safety
standards for the sake of efficiency or anything else. If Congress
decides to modify the existing unique restrictions at Love Field and
impose other unique restrictions there, FAA will continue to safely
separate aircraft regardless of the operational impact of the legisla-
tion. Having looked at the anticipated impacts of what we know is
under consideration, we have no reason to believe system efficiency
would be compromised.

This concludes my prepared statement. I will be happy to answer
your questions at this time and I apologize I don’t have slides. I
debated, but in the end decided not to. I look forward to discussing
the operation with you.

Mr. MICA. Thank you for your testimony.
I have one really two-part question for you. First, you are going

to tell us today unequivocally, without any doubt or reservation,
that it is safe.

Mr. CIRILLO. Yes, sir.
Mr. MICA. The second part of that would be you are going to tell

us that FAA will either have the resources or has the resources or
can put the resources in place to make certain that the equipment,
personnel, or whatever are required facilities to ensure safety will
be there.

Mr. CIRILLO. Yes, sir.
Mr. MICA. That is all I need to know.
Mr. Costello.
Mr. COSTELLO. Mr. Chairman, thank you. Let me ask you, how

many additional operations would it take at Dallas/Fort Worth or
both airports to affect the efficiency?

Mr. CIRILLO. We characterize the efficiency in a manner of de-
scribing delays, and to get to a point where we would have report-
able delays, it really is hundreds of additional flights. DFW’s peak
year was somewhere around 875,000 operations. In 2005 they oper-
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ated somewhere around 740,000 operations, and Dallas Love coinci-
dentally had the same peak year; they operated somewhere around
260,000 operations, and last year they were in the 235,000 range.
And at that point there was still not significant volume-related
delays in the area even in their peak year. So we have some built-
in flexibility.

Mr. COSTELLO. How much flexibility?
Mr. CIRILLO. The MITRE study is not complete yet, but when I

say hundreds, I am looking at the 2- to 400 range, additional
flights.

Mr. COSTELLO. If the Wright amendment is repealed, have you
or the FAA made any projections regarding the potential increased
flight operations at Love Field by the year 2015?

Mr. CIRILLO. No, sir, we have not made those projections.
Mr. COSTELLO. Have you made any projections at all?
Mr. CIRILLO. No.
Mr. COSTELLO. Mr. Chairman, I don’t have any other questions

at this time, and I would yield the balance of my time to Mr. Ober-
star, in addition to the time he is entitled to.

Mr. MICA. That might be stretching it, but he is recognized.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr.

Costello.
You say, Mr. Cirillo, significant additional capacity. There are

549,000 operations at the two airports today, not counting the gen-
eral aviation ops at DFW. How much more on top of that do you
say you can accommodate? Operations, operations.

Mr. CIRILLO. The operations, the totals that I discussed were in-
cluding general aviation operations.

Mr. OBERSTAR. So you are talking about 200 additional, is that
what you said in response to Mr. Costello, 200 additional oper-
ations?

Mr. CIRILLO. It is based on preliminary data.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Two hundred a month, a year?
Mr. CIRILLO. Per day.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Now the four-post operation in your airspace de-

sign has greatly alleviated the terrible congestion that existed 15
years ago. You still have aircraft about 2 miles apart from each
other, don’t you, on arrivals and departures in the air, aircraft in
the air.

Mr. CIRILLO. Depending on the configuration. There is one waiv-
er for one configuration at DFW but that is because they are proce-
durally separated. But generally 2 miles is not the separation
standard that is used. They use a minimum separation standard
which is based on wake turbulence, notwithstanding we use the
minimum separation standard, which is either 3 miles or greater.

Mr. OBERSTAR. You are sticking to the 3-mile separation. It de-
pends on type and model of aircraft though, doesn’t it?

Mr. CIRILLO. Yes, sir. Wake turbulence, a larger aircraft——
Mr. OBERSTAR. If you have a twin-aisle wide body, you need more

separation en route.
Mr. CIRILLO. In trail.
Mr. OBERSTAR. In trail. And even with a 757 you need more sep-

aration.
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Mr. CIRILLO. Yes, sir. On final approach with the 757 to the
same airport.

Mr. OBERSTAR. So you have on this configuration using the in-
bound here; inbound separated by route, inbound is separated by
altitude. You have different climb rates of different aircraft. The
737, which is principally the Southwest fleet, it has about the fast-
est climb rate, 65,000 feet per minute.

Mr. CIRILLO. Yes, sir.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Is that sufficient? Would you require that for all

aircraft to have comparable climb rates so they are out of the wake
turbulence of arriving and departing aircraft?

Mr. CIRILLO. In this case when they are utilizing vertical separa-
tion it is—these aircraft are not necessarily in trail so they are ac-
tually separated vertically.

Mr. OBERSTAR. At DFW have you implemented the new vertical
separation, the reduced vertical separation standards FAA has
adopted?

Mr. CIRILLO. The reduced vertical separation standards were ap-
plicable above 29,000 feet and they mirror the separation stand-
ards vertically that we use below that. So they do use the same
separation standard, which is 1,000 feet vertically.

Mr. OBERSTAR. Given those concerns, and I know that FAA is not
going to compromise safety, but in order to assure safety, in order
to maintain the margin of safety, you may have to slow down traf-
fic.

Mr. CIRILLO. In the case of the arrivals that you described, they
are procedurally separated and the DFW and Love traffic is really
not an issue. They are procedurally separated and not restricted
based on each other. So it would——

Mr. OBERSTAR. Your conversation up to this point at least has an
underlying assumption of good weather. What about severe weath-
er, which frequently—well, it is a common occurrence in the DFW
airspace. What do you do then?

Mr. CIRILLO. In severe weather it completely depends on the sce-
nario. We have instances where we have all routes to a particular
metropolitan area, you may shut down the entire Metroplex area.
We have had that situation occur throughout the system. So in the
case of severe weather, it really is dependent on the particular sce-
nario. There may be one inbound and outbound route, and in the
case of weather we will incur delays, and that is systemwide.

Mr. OBERSTAR. What do you anticipate in number of operational
increases with this agreement as you understand it as it has been
laid out? What do you anticipate in the number of ops out of Love
Field?

Mr. CIRILLO. We really have not made that calculation. We
haven’t had enough discussions with particular customers——

Mr. OBERSTAR. Is that something MITRE is supposed to study
for you?

Mr. CIRILLO. Their study was really unconstrained with no infor-
mation based on projections, no science based on the projection. It
was just an unconstrained number of additional aircraft.

Mr. OBERSTAR. To date, 757s do not operate out of Love Field;
but under this agreement they could, right?

Mr. CIRILLO. Well——
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Mr. OBERSTAR. Love Field has at least a runway capacity to be
able to handle that. 13R is 8,800 feet, 13L is 7,052 feet.

Mr. CIRILLO. I think physically a 757 could operate out of that
airport. I have no idea actually at this time whether there is a plan
to do that or not.

Mr. OBERSTAR. There doesn’t appear to be. They don’t exist in
the Southwest fleet. I don’t recall whether American has 757s in
its fleet. But some may want to put 180, 200-passenger aircraft in
that operation and extend their revenue option.

That would then generate some new safety concerns, wouldn’t it?
Mr. CIRILLO. It wouldn’t generate a safety concern. We would

apply the applicable separation in trail behind a Boeing 757.
Mr. OBERSTAR. But it would be a new procedure for that airport

which doesn’t have that type of operation now.
Mr. CIRILLO. I think that occasionally there are wide-bodied air-

craft that come into Love for maintenance or charters, so I think
that it has accommodated those on the non-schedule type of basis.

Mr. OBERSTAR. What are the nav aids in use at DFW for both
fields? Do you have RNAV in service?

Mr. CIRILLO. We have RNAV departures at DFW, we do not have
those procedures for Dallas Love.

Mr. OBERSTAR. Is there a control tower at Love Field?
Mr. CIRILLO. Yes, sir.
Mr. OBERSTAR. What radar do they have at the tower?
Mr. CIRILLO. They have—the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex area

has at least four terminal radars.
Mr. OBERSTAR. I know that. So those terminals will be—are the

control tower for Love Field?
Mr. CIRILLO. They provide the radar coverage.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Are those ASR 9, 11s?
Mr. CIRILLO. Either ASR 9s or 11s.
Mr. OBERSTAR. They are state-of-the-art.
Do you have STARS in operation at the TRACON?
Mr. CIRILLO. No. They have Common Arts.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Common Arts.
Well, I think that at least, at the very least, this opening up of

Love Field does raise some more concern, more challenge for FAA
to more carefully manage that airspace; wouldn’t you say that?

Mr. CIRILLO. I would say that we carefully manage the airspace
always.

Mr. OBERSTAR. I know you do.
Mr. CIRILLO. We have a great concern for safety. As I said, re-

gardless of what the legislation——
Mr. OBERSTAR. You will adapt to whatever comes. Whatever way

is necessary and whatever additional technology is necessary. To
maintain safety at the highest possible level, as it is stated in the
opening paragraph of the 1958 FAA Act.

Mr. CIRILLO. Yes, sir.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Thank you.
Mr. MICA. Thank you.
Mr. Coble.
Mr. COBLE. Mr. Chairman, I have no questions. I have been

plagued today with a rigidly inflexible schedule. I have another
hearing imminently and I wanted my Chairman to know that my
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absence does not indicate lack of interest. I thank you and the dis-
tinguished gentleman from Illinois for having scheduled this very
important hearing, and with that I will yield the balance of my
time.

Mr. MICA. Your absence was actually appreciated today.
Mr. COBLE. I appreciate that, Mr. Chairman. Reclaiming my

time, I did ask for that.
I yield the balance of my time to the distinguished gentleman

from Alabama, Mr. Bachus.
Mr. BACHUS. Mr. Chairman, he yielded the balance of his time

to me too.
I am a big supporter of Southwest Airlines and also of competi-

tion and so I do want to ask this question. The FAA is charged
with air traffic safety, and of course we have been spending all our
time here talking about the increase in number of flights. You said
that you could take over 100 new flights or more. If I look at what
I have read about this agreement, you are demolishing gates at
Love Field, so why would anybody think we are going to have more
flights out of Love Field?

Mr. CIRILLO. The study that was done was not based on any
ground infrastructure. It was just a look-see at what additional ac-
tivity at the airport would produce in the way of efficiency.

Mr. BACHUS. But I think realistically—I noticed and I read an
article where the Mayor of Dallas, Mayor Miller, said they were
going to demolish a 7-year old terminal with 700 parking spaces.

One of your other charges at FAA is to make sure that any air-
port that receives Federal funding—I guess Love Field receives
Federal funding, does it not?

Mr. CIRILLO. I don’t know.
Mr. BACHUS. I think you probably could assume that it does. As-

suming that it does, does this agreement—one of the primary
charges FAA has is that any Federal airport that receives Federal
funding or any airport that receives Federal funding, what it says
is, ″does not discriminate against airlines by aiding one over the
other in any way.″

Does this agreement do that or does it exclude another competi-
tor?

Mr. CIRILLO. We actually do not have a position on that.
Mr. BACHUS. You are not speaking for the FAA because they are

legally—that is part of your charge.
Mr. CIRILLO. In this case the legislation is pending and whatever

the legislation entails, we will comply with that.
Mr. BACHUS. Let me back up and—you are aware that one of the

FAA charges is to make sure the airlines receiving Federal funds
do not discriminate against airlines by aiding one over the other
in any way. You are aware of that provision.

Mr. CIRILLO. Yes, sir.
Mr. BACHUS. Would an agreement that left all the gates at a cer-

tain airport under the control of two or three airlines, at least on
its face, appear to violate that discrimination?

Mr. CIRILLO. I don’t even want to speculate as to whether or not
it would.

Mr. BACHUS. Would you if I submitted a written question to you
in that regard?
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Mr. CIRILLO. We would answer the question.
Mr. BACHUS. Thank you. I mean, I am just curious. As you all

looked at this—and your entire testimony was dealing with safety,
one of your charges being that this is in the best interest of the
traveling public. I commend the fact that the mayors have gotten
together, and the airlines, and made an agreement. I welcome that.
I think the Wright amendment has cost the people of north Texas
millions of dollars and I think this agreement will save them mil-
lions of dollars.

I think there are things in this agreement that are troubling,
however, from a competitiveness standpoint, from a discrimination
standpoint. And I would ask the FAA to look at those provisions
which cap the number of gates at Love Field. I wouldn’t worry so
much about all these planes being stacked up over an airfield
where the gates are being capped.

The other thing is this clause 6. Have you looked at that?
Mr. OBERSTAR. Would the gentleman yield? The gentleman

said—asked the FAA to look at that competition issue. That is a
DOT responsibility, not FAA responsibility. I think we should insist
that the DOT, which has competition responsibilities——

Mr. BACHUS. Also the FAA. The FAA, one of their charges, Mr.
Oberstar, is—the DOT additionally.

Mr. OBERSTAR. The DOD will be the venue at which such issues
will be——

Mr. BACHUS. The FAA and their funding determinations—I
mean, I am actually quoting from their provision.

Mr. CIRILLO. I would just say that the Wright amendment is
unique, so to generally speculate is——

Mr. BACHUS. Let me say this. Congress can override the FAA,
and Congress did that in the case of the Wright amendment. They
preempted the FAA and their charge and we can do that in this
case. We can absolutely adopt this and we could override and we
could actually enact into law something that would shut out other
airlines from Love Field. Congress has a right to do that. We did
that in the Wright amendment.

I am just saying does the FAA—you have come in and talked
about safety concerns. I am just asking you, one of your charges
is also to talk about competitive issues, and did you want to talk
about those?

Mr. CIRILLO. No, I am not here to talk about the competitive as-
pect of this based on where we are.

Mr. BACHUS. I am not trying to put you on the spot. Did you hear
some of the members talk about clause 6 and some of the outlying
airports, Dennison, Alliance and McKinney?

Mr. CIRILLO. Yes.
Mr. BACHUS. It seems to me like you have discouraged flights

into those fields of flight that actually could increase the number
of flights into Dallas/Fort Worth and actually add to the number
of flights.

Mr. CIRILLO. We have not done an analysis of the satellite air-
ports and not speculated on where the agreement may go relative
to them. Our analysis was particular to or specific to Dallas/Fort
Worth and Dallas Love.
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Mr. BACHUS. I don’t know really anything other than what mem-
bers said, that there were some provisions, and I am sure the
city—it is one thing if I am mayor, I am going to encourage as
many people as possible to come in. But I am not sure the Con-
gress should enact provisions which in any way encourage business
to go away from Dennison or Alliance.

I would just ask the FAA to take a second look and look at those
provisions and see if they in any way would affect air travel or the
number of flights and whether there are any safety issues there.

Mr. CIRILLO. We will do that.
Mr. BACHUS. Thank you. I yield back.
Mr. MICA. Thank the gentleman.
Ms. Johnson from Texas, you are recognized.
Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Thank you very much. Let me first com-

ment on my colleague’s inquiry there from Alabama. Let me assure
you that before this agreement, there was not that much limitation
on the flights coming into Love Field. The limitation came when
Southwest put them out of business.

Mr. BACHUS. I am sorry, I couldn’t hear.
Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. The limitation on the flights coming into

Love Field had to do with Southwest putting them out of business
by dropping those fares so low they couldn’t compete. There have
been several that tried. But it is a city-owned airport, and I believe
that the city would have the authority to limit flights or to request
the FAA to increase them. This is an agreement that has been
reached because the original one asked for Love Field to be closed
to commercial traffic.

Mr. BACHUS. I could be under a misunderstanding. I was think-
ing that the agreement capped the number of gates and——

Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. That has a lot to do with that neighbor-
hood and safety.

Mr. BACHUS. That was the reason for some of my questions. The
gentleman, I thought he said that it could take hundreds of more
flights without safety concerns, so that raised the issue with me
about why are we capping the number of gates. You freeze the
number of gates that Southwest Airlines has to 16 so you—obvi-
ously, according to the FAA’s testimony today, there is no safety
reason for that. It apparently is you are—I wish they had 30 or 40
gates.

Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. We don’t.
Mr. BACHUS. Actually, they are going to tear down a 7-year old

terminal——
Mr. CIRILLO. Just in the interest of being correct, my testimony

spoke to efficiency.
Mr. BACHUS. I am sorry.
Mr. CIRILLO. My testimony spoke to efficiency. We stipulated

that we would maintain a safe environment and the additional
flights were at a level that would affect the efficiency of the airport,
not the safety of the airport.

Mr. BACHUS. I thought your testimony——
Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Reclaiming my time.
Mr. BACHUS. I thought you said it could accommodate hundreds

of additional flights into the area.
Mr. CIRILLO. Yes.
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Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. I suppose that even the testimony that
I heard about the 80-mile radius, if the population grew to the
point where there was that much more demand for commercial
traffic, I imagine we could negotiate that with the FAA. It is just
really not there. I don’t know why all these people want to come
to Dallas. They can go anywhere they want to go without having
to come to Dallas. It is a puzzle to me why many of them feel that
they have to either leave or depart Dallas in order to have services
of Southwest Airlines. That is not the case. But we have a big air-
port, new as airports go, that there are many airlines that could
go out there and it is ready to receive them. It is ready to receive
Southwest.

But I think in terms of safety from FAA, there was a study done
in Dallas as well, and these 20 gates really has to do with not im-
posing any more subjection of the people that live around there to
environmental concerns as well as safety concerns. There are about
123,000 students in that general area in school and if you want to
hear about the intensity of feeling about safety in that area, you
can go home with me. It is in my district. Those voters are, too.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. MICA. Thank you. Additional members seek recognition? Mr.

Filner.
Mr. FILNER. Just briefly. Mr. Cirillo, you testified that if you

needed to, you could put more safety features like this RNAV at
Love. What would that cost?

Mr. CIRILLO. Actually, it is a combination of procedures and use
of equipment on board the aircraft, so it is not additional tech-
nology, for example, our automation or communication infrastruc-
ture. So it is fairly inexpensive. It involves procedural design and
training.

Mr. FILNER. So you can add that safety feature at Love without
any cost, as opposed to redoing procedures.

Mr. CIRILLO. It is a procedural redesign that is fairly inexpen-
sive.

Mr. FILNER. Thank you very much.
Mr. MICA. Any other members seek recognition? If there are no

other questions of this witness, we appreciate your testimony and
we will excuse you at this time.

I now call the second panel. The panel consists of the Honorable
Laura Miller, Mayor of the City of Dallas, Texas; the Honorable
Mike Moncrief, Mayor of the City of Fort Worth, Texas; Mr. Gerard
Arpey, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of American Airlines;
Mr. Herb Kelleher, Chairman of the Board of Southwest Airlines;
and Mr. Kevin Cox, Chief Operating Officer and Senior Executive
Vice President of the Dallas/Fort Worth International Airport.

I would like to welcome each of the witnesses.



30

TESTIMONY OF HON. LAURA MILLER, MAYOR, CITY OF DAL-
LAS, TEXAS; HON. MIKE MONCRIEF, MAYOR, CITY OF FORT
WORTH, TEXAS; GERARD ARPEY, CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EX-
ECUTIVE OFFICER, AMERICAN AIRLINES; HERB KELLEHER,
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD, SOUTHWEST AIRLINES; AND
KEVIN COX, CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER AND SENIOR EXEC-
UTIVE VICE PRESIDENT, DALLAS/FORT WORTH INTER-
NATIONAL AIRPORT

Mr. MICA. We will start off by hearing from the Mayor of Dallas,
Texas, Laura Miller. Welcome, and you are recognized. You will
have to hit that little button.

Ms. MILLER. Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank you to Ranking
Member Costello and members of the subcommittee. We appreciate
being able to testify before you, and now that we have heard all
of the other comments, we are anxious to answer all the questions
and try to clarify some of the issues.

As you have heard, the cities of Dallas, Fort Worth, Dallas/Fort
Worth International Airport Board, Southwest Airlines, and Amer-
ican Airlines are the five parties that have reached an agreement
among ourselves. All of us have now approved that as of last night
when Fort Worth approved the agreement.

Much like the agreement that led to the creation of Dallas/Fort
Worth Airport 32 years ago, the agreement represents the best that
we have in regional cooperation and signals that whatever our past
differences on Love Field, the cities of Dallas and Fort Worth are
committed and joined at the hip to working together on behalf of
our region’s future.

Before I proceed with my testimony I would like to thank the en-
tire North Central Texas delegation. They asked us to come up
with a local solution; we have delivered that. We are here to
strongly encourage Congress to approve it without modification,
and we will give you all of those reasons in a moment.

I would also like to thank two members of the subcommittee in
particular, Representative Eddie Bernice Johnson and Representa-
tive Kenny Marchant, for their support on this issue and for mak-
ing this hearing possible.

And I also want to thank, of course, my good friend and partner
in this endeavor, Fort Worth Mayor Mike Moncrief, for his leader-
ship and his dedication in getting this resolved. Our city councils
and our business communities both participated in the work that
brought us here today.

When the congressional delegation asked us to find a local solu-
tion, it was 4 months ago. The problems were very complex and the
interests between the parties were extremely entrenched. The rift
between our two cities has for too long kept the fifth largest metro-
politan area in America from developing its full economic potential,
and that is the reason that we worked so hard to do this.

The five parties reached an agreement, and the top three things
on our minds are the following, number one, to keep the third busi-
est airport in the world strong. It is our economic engine for north
Texas, DFW Airport. We created it together the two city cities and
our bond covenants say that the two cities shall make sure that we
protect that asset.
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Number two, we wanted to protect the neighbors around Love
Field, the residents and businesses. It is a landlocked intercity air-
port and we have done an enormous amount of work in the last 10
years to make sure that we had a balance between growth in com-
petition and also the protection of the neighborhoods regarding pol-
lution, ground congestion, and noise.

I want the committee to know that we have the gentleman,
George Vitas, who is the senior person who did the Love Field mas-
ter plan in 2001 that originally recommended 32 gates as long as
the Wright amendment stayed in place. We updated that for pur-
poses of these discussions between the two cities, and that number
went to 20 because the same consultants looked at what is the very
best number of gates to have without the Wright amendment; if
that one variable changed, then how many gates would be appro-
priate in terms of the environment, in terms of economic growth,
and in terms of operations and safety. And that is why the number
is 20 and not 17 or 22 or 25, and that gentleman is here behind
me and is able to answer a lot of the questions that I heard being
posed to the gentleman with the FAA if you look in terms of our
master plan work that we have been doing for the last 10 years.

Our solution has the support of the committees surrounding Love
Field, the business community, and the president of the Greater
Dallas Chamber of Commerce, Erle Nye, who has been deeply in-
volved in the process, came to the Hill with us a few weeks ago to
talk to some of you about the initiative.

The Love Field Citizens Action Committee, as Congresswoman
Johnson said, has written letters expressing their support. They
are very detailed and that has been entered into the testimony.
This agreement will gradually open Love field to allow direct non-
stop flight to and from the cities throughout the United States in
a manner that protects the neighborhoods and also enables Dallas/
Fort Worth International Airport to cement its lead role in our re-
gion. It will free Love Field from almost 30 years of control and,
importantly, allow Dallas to move forward in updating the master
plan that I referenced.

The master plan concluded that our master plan goals can be
fully implemented under the 20 gate limit set by the five-party
agreement. It maintains the ground traffic noise and air quality
impacts of the air service that 32 gates with the Wright amend-
ment would bring. The 20 gate limit without the Wright amend-
ment will also enhance safety and efficiency.

A few airlines, as you know, have complained that the five-party
agreement would bar new carriers from Love Field. Not so. There
will be room for new entrants and for new service to other destina-
tions from our airport now and after the airport is reconfigured.

Today our airport has 19 gates that are currently in use. The so-
lution will increase the current number of operational gates from
19 to 20. New entrants are welcome under our existing gate-shar-
ing provisions, and that does not change under the agreement and
we welcome all entrants to Dallas Love Field as we do Dallas Fort
Worth International Airport.

We also will be having a much improved airport because of this
solution. As part of the agreement the city of Dallas has agreed to
invest between $150 million and $200 million for a lot of upgrades
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at Love Field consistent with the master plan. We will fund them
using landing fees, space rental charges, and passenger facility
charges. The investments will improve operations, increase safety,
improve the traveler’s experience and boost our airport’s bottom
line.

The investments include two components to address safety issues
which I know were of considerable concern to Representative Ober-
star. We will be adding 1,000 feet to the runway safety areas off
the north end of Love Field’s two parallel runways to bring them
into compliance with Federal compliance, and we will build a new
$8 million public safety and crisis management facility that will en-
hance security and emergency response by combining the adminis-
trative functions of the Dallas Airport Police, Dallas Fire and Res-
cue, Airport Operations, and the controlled access security system
in a facility that will be separate from the main terminal building.

We are also committed in this agreement to other improvements
at Love Field including the expansion of retail concession, renova-
tion of the central lobby, a new cargo building, renovation of the
intersection of Mockingbird Lane and Cedar Springs at the en-
trance to the airport, a new ticket wing and pedestrian bridge, ren-
ovation of the concourse and landscaping.

We will also fund any construction, renovation, or demolition
work related to limiting Love Field to 20 gates and we will explore
construction of a people-mover that will directly connect the termi-
nal at Love Field with a planned new rail station on the northwest
light rail line that is planned by our rapid transit agency.

Mr. Chairman, this landmark agreement represents our very
best efforts in regional cooperation. It will improve service, improve
safety, efficiency, in a manner that minimizes the impact on the
neighborhoods. It will cement Dallas/Fort Worth International Air-
port as the hub of our regional economy and it will also, we believe,
create enormous air competition and lower fares for our consumers.

We need your help to make it happen. We know we are on a very
fast timetable and we appreciate your letting us come to you so
quickly and tell you why this compromise should be approved.
Thank you.

Mr. MARCHANT. [Presiding.] Thank you, Mayor. Thank you for
your hard work on this.

At this time it is my privilege to introduce to you the mayor of
the city of Fort Worth, Mr. Mike Moncrief.

Mr. MONCRIEF. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member
Costello, and Ranking Member Oberstar and members of the com-
mittee. It is an honor to appear before you as mayor of one of the
fastest growing cities in the country: Fort Worth, Texas.

Let me first say that I fully understand that your time is valu-
able and I will keep my remarks brief. We deeply respect the jobs
that you do and we thank you for giving us the forum to discuss
the significance of this local agreement. The debate over the Wright
amendment has been long and turbulent, with impassioned argu-
ments on all sides.

It goes without saying that I am delighted to be here in support
of a proposal that would finally settle this local issue which has at
times divided our entire region. I am most appreciative of my col-
league and friend, Dallas Mayor Laura Miller, for her partnership,
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for her support during this process. And of course there were times
where we agreed to disagree, but in the end I am proud that our
two cities worked jointly towards what was best for our citizens,
the flying public, the airlines and our airports.

We also owe a great deal of gratitude to the leadership of DFW
Airport, American Airlines, Southwest Airlines, for their willing-
ness to chart a new path. I especially want to thank Senator Kay
Bailey Hutchinson who, along with Senator John Cornyn, urged us
to forge this compromise.

I also want to express my sincere appreciation to Chairman Joe
Barton, Representatives Granger, Burgess, Eddie Bernice Johnson,
you, Mr. Chairman, and the rest of the north Texas delegation for
your support.

Although our target was elusive, I believe we produced what we
were asked to construct by our congressional leaders: a local solu-
tion to a local problem. In my years of public service I have never
been involved in more intense, challenging, and nonstop negotia-
tions. Each of us spent countless hours, days, weeks and months
cussing and discussing the pros and cons of what we have before
you today.

Our compromise is an example of what happens when everyone
shares in the pain to make something significant take place. All
parties here have, what I would like to say, some skin in the game.
Sometimes the best decisions are the ones where no one really gets
everything that they want but, rather, where everyone walks away
at least feeling that the greater good has been served.

Our compromise is a case in point. Ultimately we are presenting
you with a fair and balanced product. It is an agreement that as
mayor I can represent to you the leaders of Fort Worth firmly
stand behind. This is bigger than two cities, two airlines or two air-
ports. The settlement affects thousands of families. It affects busi-
nesses, large and small alike. The plan has enormous implications
for the Dallas/Fort Worth regional economy, which I might add is
one of the largest in the world, as it will protect countless local jobs
and preserve the future of our metroplex.

Our agreement is predicated upon the condition that Congress
will enact legislation to implement both the terms and spirit of this
agreement. While we are proud of our accomplishments thus far,
it will be for naught if Congress alters or fails to adopt this com-
promise as presented. We understand the difficult task ahead of
you and we are counting on you to put an end to this debate for
good. If we all do our jobs, the provisions of this local agreement
will be adopted as Federal law and we will have a binding contract
between all parties. Our local city councils and this Congress can
move on to other important issues, and this very difficult challenge
will not be left at the feet for future leaders.

If we do our jobs, the largest airline in the world, American, and
the largest domestic carrier in the United States, Southwest, can
focus their energy on competing in the air and not here in the halls
of Congress. They can stop spending money on lawyers, lobbyists
and campaign-style advertisements. If we do our jobs, Dallas/Fort
Worth Airport, our region’s most important economic engine and
job creator, can continue to be the gateway to the world. All Ameri-
cans, your constituents and ours, will ultimately be free to fly any-
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where in the United States and they can realize a future filled with
healthy airline competition that will lead to more competitive air
fares.

However, should Congress fail to carry through this local com-
promise—sadly, Mr. Chairman, but certainly—everyone, including
the public, our citizens, will lose. By our presence today we, the
parties to this agreement, affirm our approval of this local solution
that was negotiated in the best interest of the citizens and econo-
mies of the Dallas/Fort Worth metroplex. We urge your strong sup-
port of our legislative proposal, without amendment, and we thank
you very much for your time and consideration.

Mr. MARCHANT. Thank you, Mayor.
And now I introduce to you the President of American Airlines,

Chairman and CEO, and one of my constituents, Mr. Arpey.
Mr. ARPEY. Thank you all for the opportunity to be with you this

afternoon to share with you American’s perspective on the Love
Field compromise. On behalf of the more than 90,000 employees of
American Airlines I want to extend our appreciation to the commit-
tee for its prompt scheduling of the hearing today and for its will-
ingness to expeditiously consider the proposed legislation regarding
the Wright amendment.

I think it is fair to say that this is a day that many in this room
believed would never come, including, I must confess, myself. The
controversy surrounding Love Field and the Wright amendment
has loomed over American Airlines longer than I have been with
the company, and I was hired by American nearly 25 years ago,
and I know the same is true for Southwest Airlines. But of course,
the issue’s importance extends far beyond any one company. The
impact of what this committee decides will be felt throughout
Texas, the Southwest, and in hundreds of other communities
around the country.

Almost 2 years ago this committee’s Chairman Don Young de-
clared that it was up to the communities in north Texas to reach
a resolution to the Wright amendment controversy if changes in
the law were to be made. We were grateful for that declaration be-
cause it showed a sensitivity to how complicated this issue is and
how substantial an impact it has both locally and nationally. And,
importantly, over many years, Ranking Member Jim Oberstar has
been a consistent advocate of maintaining the Wright amendment
for reasons of safety, efficiency and sound economics, a position
that I know carries enormous weight with his colleagues on this
committee. Many other Members of the House, both on and off the
committee, have vigorously rejected calls for repeal of the Wright
amendment. Among them, most notably, are Energy and Com-
merce Chairman Joe Barton, Kay Granger, John Sullivan, Michael
Burgess and Kenny Marchant.

I think it is very important to recognize that on this committee
the Representative of the district in which Love Field sits, Eddie
Bernice Johnson, has been an outspoken advocate against repeal,
a position and perspective that I hope will make a great difference
in your deliberations.

Now I emphasize all of this not to rehash old controversies but
to make the point that this debate is not between the proposed
compromise on the one hand and immediate repeal of the Wright
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amendment on the other. Rather, this is all about either solving
the problem once and for all or returning to the status quo with
the Wright amendment firmly in place and the battle raging on.

Some airlines who have sat on the sidelines and who have had
the opportunity for years to fly to Love Field are attacking this
compromise and proclaiming their sudden and heretofore secret de-
sire to operate from Love Field. I would urge the committee to re-
ject the attempts of the latecomers to be spoilers and to recognize
the opportunity at hand by acting swiftly to enact legislation. De-
spite the fact that American Airlines strongly endorses this pro-
posed legislation, I have made no secret of the fact that my pref-
erence would have been either maintaining the Wright amendment
without change or closing Love Field to commercial traffic alto-
gether. This compromise did not come easily for us.

We have made two major concessions to get to this point. First,
we have agreed to support an immediate repeal of the provisions
of the Wright amendment that prevent through-ticketing to Love
Field or to points outside the States where service is allowed. Sec-
ond, we have agreed to full repeal in 8 years. Both of these conces-
sions will be economically harmful to American. In return, how-
ever, we have been assured that Love Field will not grow into a
mammoth facility that would cause us to split our operations be-
tween two airports in such a way that both our small community
and international service would be jeopardized from DFW airport.

While high-density point-to-point markets can be supported from
any major airport, it takes the synergies of a robust network to
support service to smaller communities and to amass sufficient
traffic in one point to sustain international service. Hence, under
this agreement DFW Airport can remain a viable hub for Amer-
ican. In addition, we will be able to chart our future without the
uncertainty of what might happen to the Wright amendment.

This is also why dozens of small- and medium-sized communities
throughout the Nation have rallied to support the Wright amend-
ment and why choosing a sensible solution is not just good for
north Texas but for hundreds of communities that depend on a
healthy DFW for access to the rest of the world. We endorse this
solution because it clearly defines the roles of the airports in the
region and comes with enforceable provisions that provide certainty
about what service will occur at each airport, how large a role each
airport will have in providing air service for the region, and what
level of environmental impact will be felt on the neighborhoods in
schools around Love Field. However, as I think all the witnesses
today will testify, this is a very delicately balanced agreement. Any
changes in the proposed legislation or the underlying agreement
and the contract among the parties will clearly undermine this
compromise.

Finally, I would like to reiterate a point I made in my testimony
last November in the Senate about my colleague and, until re-
cently, adversary on this issue, Herb Kelleher. It is impossible not
to have the utmost respect for the job that Herb and his team have
done at Southwest Airlines. We admire them greatly and we com-
pete with them vigorously, and I know that Herb is as delighted
as I am that we can now confine our battles to the marketplace
rather than the halls of Congress.
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I know there is another thing that Herb and I agree upon and
that is our admiration for the tenacity and effectiveness of Mayor
Laura Miller of Dallas and Mike Moncrief of Fort Worth without
whom I would not be here today. In addition to all the Members
of the House that I noted previously, I would be remiss not to rec-
ognize the essential role that Senator Kay Bailey Hutchinson
played in this entire process.

Again, thank you to the committee for the opportunity to be here
today.

Mr. MICA. [Presiding.] Thank you, Mr. Arpey.
Now it is my privilege to produce Mr. Kelleher from Southwest

Airlines.
Mr. KELLEHER. Thank you, Mr. Costello, Mr. Oberstar, Ms. John-

son, and Mr. Filner. I do not know whether you heard my first in-
troduction but I covered all of you I think.

The 30 years’ war waged on the European continent from 1618
through 1648 is, with respect to its 30-year longevity, exceedingly
junior compared to the Dallas/Fort Worth Airport struggle, a strug-
gle which has been waged in the Dallas/Fort Worth metroplex for
more than six decades. I have personally been involved in litiga-
tion, in legislative battles, and in cuss fights over Dallas Love Field
since 1972, a period of 34 years. The fact that Southwest Airlines
appears before you today, appears before you with Fort Worth, ap-
pears before you with the DFW Airport, appears before you with
my highly esteemed and much-liked colleague Gerard Arpey from
American Airlines, and appears before you with the city of Dallas,
is a miracle. As Congressman Costello said earlier, I made the com-
ment at our DFW press conference, if we can all get together on
solving this issue, then there is hope for world peace.

Our unprecedented agreement arises from airport circumstances
which are unprecedented anywhere else in the United States of
America, and most probably unprecedented anywhere else on
Earth. Many Members of Congress have over the course of many
years urged a local resolution of the Wright amendment issues.
That has now been done. And peace and goodwill is the essence of
our agreement. Not to mention certainty, not to mention stability,
and not to mention tranquility.

Under the perseverant leadership of the mayors of Dallas and
Fort Worth who have literally—and I mean literally—and factually
worked both day and night to bring this peace pact into being, all
of our swords are being beaten into plowshares.

As with any difficult and complicated transaction, difficult and
complicated by over 60 years of contention, by over 60 years of con-
troversy, and by over 60 years of acrimony, all sides, all five parties
have been compelled to make sacrifices to yield on firmly held posi-
tions, to moan and groan and agonize over decisions and over mu-
tual concessions. The only victor, the only sure-fire winner from
this agreement is the public, the citizens who will now find it easi-
er and far less expensive to travel to and from north Texas for both
business and personal reasons, the citizens who will reap vast eco-
nomic benefits in their communities from enhanced travel and
tourism at lower costs.

As Representative Hensarling stated, that is 2 million more peo-
ple traveling a year, saving $259 million a year in air fares, and
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producing $2.4 billion worth of economic benefits to their commu-
nities in the 8 years prior to the repeal of the Wright amendment
with through-ticketing and through-service. And I should add most
emphatically, the public will reap those benefits without any cog-
nizable injury whatsoever to DFW International Airport or to its
far-flung domestic and international air service network.

On behalf of the public we stand shoulder to shoulder with
American Airlines, with DFW Airport, and with the mayors and
city councils of Dallas and Fort Worth in urging this committee
and the United States Congress to speedily approve legislation nec-
essary to implement our locally achieved Wright amendment com-
promise which people have been asking for in the Congress for at
least the last 20 years.

Thank you for your time. Thank you for your attention, and
thank you for this speedy hearing before the committee. We appre-
ciate it.

Mr. MARCHANT. Thank you, Mr. Kelleher.
And now Mr. Kevin Cox representing DFW Airport.
Mr. COX. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the committee.

On behalf of Dallas/Fort Worth International Airport, I want to
thank you for the opportunity to testify today. As this subcommit-
tee is well aware and as you have heard testified earlier, there has
been an intense political and public relations campaign involving
the Wright amendment for many many years. However, unlike
most campaigns which inevitably end in a winner or loser, we
stand before you today, united behind a single proposal hammered
out through intense negotiations and delicate negotiations between
the cities, the airlines, and the airport. After literally decades of
fiercely fought legislative, legal, and political battles, we are here
today respectfully asking for your approval and endorsement of this
locally formulated solution.

In November of 2004 when Southwest Airlines announced its de-
sire to have the Wright amendment repealed in its entirety, a sig-
nificant effort was initiated to assess the impact that complete re-
peal would have on DFW and the north Texas region at large. The
analysis revealed that an immediate and outright repeal was, and
is, a direct threat to DFW’s financial stability, having just invested
$2.7 billion in that capital development program and having re-
cently lost Delta Airlines as a hub operator at our airport.

In addition, opening Love Field to unlimited growth would in-
crease noise, congestion, and emissions for the residents that live
around Love Field. In an effort to find a balance that would permit
the repeal of the Wright amendment but protect the residents
around Love Field and the long-term financial viability of DFW
Airport, the mayors of Dallas and Fort Worth fashioned a local so-
lution which again is a delicate balance between all parties.

The fundamental elements of the solution which require congres-
sional action include the following: First, immediate through-
ticketing, second, that Love Field remain restricted as a domestic
operation airport; third, this legislation would codify a locally sanc-
tioned and established gate limit of 20 gates for Love Field; and
last, all remaining restrictions on air service from Love Field would
be eliminated 8 years after this legislation.
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It is critically important to understand that each of these ele-
ments of this proposal are interdependent. Certain parties have re-
cently raised objections to the proposed solution, claiming it results
in reduced access to Love Field. The fact is that scarce resource
provisions of the lease, highlighted by Mayor Miller, allows the city
of Dallas to require incumbent airlines to accommodate these new
entrant airlines on gates that are not fully utilized. The use of ac-
commodation provisions is not unique—is not unique in our indus-
try.

Today San Diego, Santa Anna, Oakland, Las Vegas, Chicago,
Midway, Fort Lauderdale and Philadelphia airports, each and
every one of them have all of their gates leased or under permit.
For any carrier to access gates at any of these airports, it requires
the requesting carrier to seek an accommodation from the incum-
bent carrier or the airport operator.

Another airport, Long Beach Airport has a very strict noise ordi-
nance that places severe limits on the number of nights that can
operate from that airport as well. One of the things that has not
been discussed in addition to the accommodations provisions is it
is very important to understand today, as Ranking Member Ober-
star talked about earlier, these two airports serve the same mar-
ketplace. They are a mere 8 miles apart.

Every carrier has the unimpeded access into the Dallas/Fort
Worth market today. Even if the carrier could not access Love
Field through the accommodation provisions, which to date none of
the objective carriers have even tried, the carriers can still access
the north Texas market by flying directly into the Dallas/Fort
Worth International Airport, again a mere 8 miles apart. And with
Delta’s decision to eliminate its hub, DFW has excess gate capacity
of over 15 gates that are currently unleased.

Moreover, DFW has one of the most aggressive air service and
city programs in the country. Let me give you an example. If Jet
Blue were to initiate just three flights a day from John F. Kennedy
to DFW, Jet Blue would be eligible to receive $479,000 in financial
incentives which include 6 months of free landing fees. The fact is
that Jet Blue Airways and any other airline has access into the
north Texas market today. Any claim to the contrary is simply un-
founded.

Mr. Chairman, the city of Dallas and the City of Fort Worth have
been intense competitors dating back to the early years of flight.
At the direction of the Federal Government and with the financial
assistance of Congress, the two parties came together to build one
of the greatest airports in the world, Dallas/Fort Worth Inter-
national Airport. The leadership on this committee challenged our
community to develop a local solution. Under the leadership of our
two mayors we have done just that. We strongly urge you to take
this local proposal and implement it in its entirety.

On behalf of DFW Airport and the 265,000 men and women
whose jobs depend upon it each and every day, I respectfully again
thank you for this opportunity and urge you to support this local
solution.

Mr. MICA. I thank you and each of the witnesses for your testi-
mony. I just have a quick question. Maybe Mr. Kelleher or one of
you can answer it. I have concern about tearing down gates any-
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where when we have infrastructure needs at almost all of our air-
ports, particularly in a major metropolitan area like Dallas/Fort
Worth. Also there is taxpayer money involved in the construction
of those. I guess part of the plan is to pay back some of the money;
is that correct?

Mr. KELLEHER. Actually, Mr. Chairman, there is no taxpayer
money.

Mr. MICA. There is none?
Mr. KELLEHER. No. It is all paid for by the airlines that serve

Love Field. So the city of Dallas——
Mr. MICA. So there is no infrastructure that will come down that

has any AIP money or Federal money?
Mr. KELLEHER. Well, no, no, no. I don’t believe so. And may I add

something to that?
Mr. MICA. Go ahead.
Mr. KELLEHER. This reduction in gates came about not because

it was the strong desire on the part of some of the participants, but
really came about because of the prior master plan done by the city
of Dallas that allowed the 32 gates at Love Field—provided that
most of them were used by regional jet aircraft rather than heavier
aircraft such as Southwest Airlines flies. We ourselves are giving
up five gates that are our gates as part of this deal. We are going
from 21 to 16 gates. And during that entire period of some 25
years, no other carrier ever wanted to come in to utilize those
gates. And any carrier that is desirous now of serving Love Field
can easily be accommodated even after those gates come down.

Mr. MICA. I feel a little bit better that we have no AIP money
in there. But in the long term with open competition, I feel you will
have unlimited competition. With real competition you will need
those gates and more.

I yield the balance of my time for questioning to Mr. Marchant.
Mr. MARCHANT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will ask this ques-

tion of all of you on the panel and it was alluded to earlier in the
testimony in statements given by the other Congressmen, but I
think that at this point we for the last 3 weeks have as a group
been very much in agreement as a delegation on the whole concept
of this agreement. Today, yesterday, and today, the issue of the 80-
mile perimeter has come up.

Can you give us a little background on how that entered into the
discussion and what your feelings are on that issue? Mayor Miller,
we will just go in order, that will be fine.

Ms. MILLER. Sure. One of the major issues that we have dis-
cussed for 30 years at DFW is that we have bond covenants at the
airport that the city of Dallas and the city of Fort Worth are re-
sponsible for. As Mr. Cox mentioned, we just did $2.7 million worth
of improvements out there and the bond covenants specifically say
that the cities of Dallas and Fort Worth will do everything possible
to make sure that we keep the airport healthy and viable and with
a strong revenue stream.

So the purpose of the 80-mile limitation—and it is only a limita-
tion in the sense that if carrier service were to be requested by any
smaller airport within the 80 miles around DFW Airport, obviously
the mayors of Fort Worth and Dallas and our city councils would
say, as we have for the last 30 years, we would prefer that that
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air service come to the major economic engine that we built 30
years ago, DFW Airport. We have a lot of capacity at DFW Airport,
just like today we have capacity at Love Field with the 19 gates
that we currently use. We have capacity on the existing gates. It
does not mean that McKinney or Allen or Frisco or any of those
communities can’t apply tomorrow to get Federal funding to be-
come a passenger service airport. They have every right to do that.
All we are saying, not in the legislation, only in our agreement
among the five parties, that we will say if that time comes that
these communities want to start passenger service, that we would
prefer that it come to DFW airport.

The second part of that that was alluded to earlier is the vol-
untary restrictions that the parties, American Airlines and South-
west, who currently serve Love Field have agreed to. And that is
that if they decide between now and 2025 to open a gate at any
of these other airports within 80 miles, that they will voluntarily
not give up a gate but go from a preferential-use gate, which all
of our tenants currently have, to a common-use gate. And so if they
open a gate in McKinney, then they would say, if you are South-
west, of our 16 preferential-use gates, we now say that one of those
will go to a common-use status. If no one else wants to come in and
use that gate, then Southwest can continue to use that gate.

So we thought that it actually helped us at Love Field to create
more competition by going to common-use gates which we have
never had at Love Field. We have always had preferential-use
gates, and until this compromise all the carriers—American, Con-
tinental and Southwest—had preferential gates through 2021. We
have agreed to extend that to 2028 under this agreement.

Mr. MARCHANT. Anyone want to add to that?
Mr. MONCRIEF. I would only add, Representative Marchant, that

as Laura indicated, we have the responsibility of those bond cov-
enants, and that is something we take very seriously and by law
we must abide by. It is our responsibility to ensure the health and
well-being of DFW. That is in the best interest of not only our cit-
ies but the entire region. And what we were attempting to do is
not to affect all other airports. And in fact, as we visited with the
mayor of McKinney and we talked to him between you all’s votes,
he assured us that he felt like he could get comfortable with some
minor tweaking of the language. So it makes it clear what we were
trying to do.

Mr. MARCHANT. Will that language be tweaked in your internal
agreement or will you ask for it to be tweaked in the legislation
itself?

Mr. COX. Congressman Marchant, it would be tweaked in the
legislation. Lest there be any confusion, there are really only a few
principal elements that we need in Federal law and they primarily
deal with the things that we are talking about, repealing the
Wright amendment, through-ticketing, international traffic issues.
The other issues are really contractual agreements between the
parties. It was never the intent for us to envelop that into legisla-
tion that would somehow in any way undermine any other airport’s
efforts, and it has led to a lot of confusion. And we feel the easiest
and surest way to fix that is to make it perfectly clear in this piece
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of legislation that every other airport out there will not be im-
pacted by these provisions.

Mr. MARCHANT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. MICA. Thank you. Mr. Costello.
Mr. COSTELLO. Mr. Chairman, thank you. First let me say that

in our briefing a few weeks ago, I said then and I will say again
today, I commend all of you. This was no small undertaking to
come together and reach this agreement. There are in my judgment
two issues that have to be examined and resolved here. One is the
issue of safety and the other issue is competition.

I have several questions. Let me first say that the issue of safety
has been touched on here today. I think there is a lot more to be
said concerning that issue, but I want to talk a little bit about the
competition issue.

The CEO of Jet Blue submitted written testimony to the sub-
committee for today. He refers to this, ″that the agreement is a
deal that is even more anticompetitive than the Wright amendment
it seeks to eventually repeal.″ so the CEO of Jet Blue is asserting
here that this agreement is more anticompetitive than the existing
Wright amendment.

Let me ask both mayors and beginning, if you would, Mayor Mil-
ler, you both no doubt know and everyone probably who is follow-
ing this knows that the Dallas Business Journal came out with an
editorial on June 26 and it says, ″Love Betrayed.″ and it says,
″Congress should say not only no, but hell no, to the Wright
amendment compromise proposed last week.″ and then it goes on
to say, four or five paragraphs later ″The deal would make it much
more difficult for new airlines to enter this market and challenge
American or Southwest because it would permanently destroy the
infrastructure that new competitors would need to establish a pres-
ence at Love.″

I wonder if you might respond to the concerns expressed in the
editorial of the Dallas Business Journal.

Ms. MILLER. Sure. Thank you. For one thing, it should be re-
membered that our gate-sharing provisions that we have in our
current leases with American, Southwest and Continental do not
change at all with this solution. So today if Jet Blue came in and
said we would like a gate, we have language in all of our leases
with our tenants that say we have to make room for that new en-
trant. We have always had that language in our leases and that
language will not disappear.

In the last 30 years we have never turned away an entrant to
the airport, and we have had capacity for people to come in.

At the request of the committee this morning, we did provide a
copy of the lease language to use, to look at, to read. And we also
submitted an airline competition plan for Love Field that was exe-
cuted in 2001, but also in great detail goes through the language
that is in our leases and makes it clear that because we are an air-
port that receives Federal funding and is governed by the FAA and
the DOT, that we provide mechanisms for new entrants to come
into Love Field.

Secondly, we currently have quite a bit of capacity at Love Field.
If we were to go to the industry average of about ten turns a gate,
right now Southwest is at 8.6, American is at 5.3, and Continental
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is 6.3. So we would love for Jet Blue to come to Love Field and we
would love for them to come to DFW Airport and we have been
courting them for a very, very long time. So I am hopeful that they
will come and serve the Dallas area.

Mr. COSTELLO. Mayor Moncrief.
Mr. MONCRIEF. Representative Costello, I would say that dif-

ferent publications will have different opinions. And I understand
that. And I understand that while the Dallas Business Journal
might have an opinion that this is not an agreement that is in the
best interest of the people of our region or this industry, I think
the Fort Worth Star Telegram had a far different view. I am not
certain what the Dallas Morning News position was, but I also
know the Fort Worth Business Press strongly endorsed our pro-
posal. And I would say to you that if this product were more anti-
competitive than the Wright amendment, I do not think Mr.
Kelleher would be sitting here at this table.

Mr. KELLEHER. That is correct.
Mr. COSTELLO. And we are going to give both Mr. Kelleher and

Mr. Arpey a shot at the assertion by Jet Blue that it is more anti-
competitive than the Wright amendment.

Mr. Arpey.
Mr. ARPEY. Well, I have not seen Jet Blue’s comments so I do

not know exactly what they said.
Mr. COSTELLO. You pretty well get the gist of it, right?
Mr. ARPEY. The fact that as both mayors have indicated, the fact

that a Jet Blue has the right tomorrow to begin service from DFW
Airport to wherever they would like to fly and the fact that they
can come in under the common-use agreement at Love Field and
operate within the confines of the current Wright amendment gives
them the opportunity to come in and compete on the same playing
field that Southwest has and that American has at DFW. So I find
it to be a fallacious argument that they are making, and the fact
that we have never heard from this up until this moment suggests
to me that there is some other motivation here.

Mr. COSTELLO. Mr. Kelleher, for the record.
Mr. KELLEHER. Mr. Costello, well, Jet Blue released a statement

that this was a back-room deal, quote/unquote, on the part of the
American Airlines and Southwest Airlines. There are only several
things wrong with that assertion. Neither American or Southwest
were in that back room. The two mayors were, the mayor of Dallas
and the mayor of Fort Worth.

And secondly, they indicated that they had supported the repeal
of the Wright amendment. If that is the case, Mr. Costello, it was
a very stealthy form of report, since they have never voiced a word
in favor of repealing the Wright amendment. That is why their
support never came up on my radar. And I called NORAD to check
with them as well whether they had detected any support for the
Wright amendment from Jet Blue, and there was none.

And finally I would like to say that there is nothing more anti-
competitive than the Wright amendment. That is why we had
seven gates that we were not able to use at Love Field for 26 years.
If the Wright amendment goes away, you are going to reap the
added passengers, the fare savings and the economic benefits that
Representative Hensarling mentioned in his story. And to further
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back up the mayors of Dallas and Fort Worth, if Jet Blue wants
to come into Love Field, let them come. We got room.

Mr. COSTELLO. Mayor Miller, you indicated in your testimony
that the city of Dallas has agreed to make substantial investments
at Love Field as a result of the agreement. I wonder if you might
elaborate on that.

Ms. MILLER. We have not done any significant upgrades to the
airport in 30 or 40 years. We did do a brand-new parking garage,
which is one of the reasons why I know that. Congressman Burgess
earlier mentioned about the landing fees, and we should have, in
my opinion, increased the landing fees when we incurred the debt
from the garage. We did not. Management did not recommend that.
We subsequently did that to cover the capital expenditure on the
garage, and now we are ready to do a significant upgrade to the
entire air field and the concourse and we think that is going to be
terrific for the traveler and terrific for the airport tenants.

So part of our agreement is that there will be a minimum of $150
million spent and a maximum of $200 million spent on the items
that I read into the record: concourse concessions, landscaping, im-
provements to the entrance, separate security facility. And that
will be done in the 8-year period that we are making these adjust-
ments to not having a Wright amendment anymore. So that would
be a significant upgrade and will help us a lot in terms of safety
and consolidate our operations which have been rather spread out.

When we had 60 or 65 gates operational, they were at various
places in the airport. We will be consolidating that and working
with Southwest and our other tenants to come up with a good plan.
So we are very excited about the opportunity to do that and to get
the commitment from our tenants that they are willing to invest
that kind of money in our infrastructure.

Mr. COSTELLO. Mr. Chairman, thank you.
Mr. MICA. Thank you. Ms. Johnson.
Ms. JOHNSON OF TEXAS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

And let me thank all of the persons who appeared here today. I am
delighted that we are the recipients of a plan that both Dallas/Fort
Worth and Love Field and DFW can live with. And this is quite
an achievement for the area.

I do want to ask for one more document, unanimous consent for
one more document to be placed in the record, and it has to do with
safety. And I think you heard the mayor indicate that there would
be some improvement in length to the runway. And that is appre-
ciated as well.

I do not really have any questions. What I really would like to
say is that fairness has been a priority of mine all my life. And I
did not think it was fair to just ignore that commitment. It is like
telling me that the Constitution is too old and outdated. And so I
am delighted that we didn’t have to go that route any longer. Free
enterprise, or whatever kind of enterprise, Dallas Love Field is
owned by the voters and the citizens of Dallas. And I never consid-
ered it much of a free enterprise, just like the city hall. But I do
think that this will work if we can get the people in the Congress
to cooperate with it and I hope we can. If we get everybody in
Texas on board I think we will be able to convince the rest of the
Congress.
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I am going to stop, Mr. Chairman, because I have got to go to
another meeting. The only other subject that gets more emotional
than this one—redistricting.

Mr. MICA. Thank you. I think we broke the record today. We had
three or four hearings, and Mr. Oberstar can document all of this,
we had three or four hearings on O’Hare that broke the hearing
record. We are not going to do that, but this broke the record on
Members testifying. I do not ever recall, and I only have 14 years,
but we did break that record.

Mr. Oberstar.
Mr. OBERSTAR. We did have more Members during the hearing

on smoking onboard aircraft.
Well, well, well. Dear Love Field. Lieutenant Moss Lee Love

must be hovering over this hearing watching this with great inter-
est as his name inches further into eternity with what we are doing
with this legislation. It should be noted for the record that Love
Field is, as said earlier, not a small-town operation. It generates
$2 billion for the Dallas economy. It accounts for 24,000-plus jobs.
It is a major economic benefit, which is why the city decided they
wanted to keep it going, even after the agreement which Mr.
Kelleher was part of the negotiating, way back when in the mists
of time, in the Najeeb Halaby era.

Again, I listened with great interest as one after another seem-
ingly said that we have achieved a delicate balance. You heard the
panel, it sounded like the committee Chairman and Ranking Mem-
ber of a committee when we just finished a very tough bill. And the
message that this is a delicate balance means do not mess with it;
do not tamper with it.

Well, I think we are going to have to. We have a slot-controlled
airport in which the number of our arrivals and departures is lim-
ited. Over time those slots acquired value. Airlines that had the
slots put them on the balance sheet, traded them, sold them, leased
them, subleased them. And that was done by administrative action,
not by legislative action of the Congress, except in the case of Na-
tional where there was a legislative limitation on the arc within
which—the outer perimeter of which service is allowed. This will
be the first gate-controlled airport by act of Congress if we adopt
the recommendations of our agreement. So it raises some very im-
portant questions. Will the gates— first off, Mayor Miller, who is
the owner of the airport?

Ms. MILLER. The city of Dallas.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Does the city of Dallas have an airport authority

that operates Love Field on its behalf? Does the city designate and
name the airport operator—or, I mean the director?

Ms. MILLER. We have a city manager form of government. The
city manager hires the aviation director to oversee the airport and
a smaller airport to the south, Dallas Executive. The city manager
reports to the city council.

Mr. OBERSTAR. OK. Now, under your agreement the gates will be
leased, is that right, by the airport authority?

Ms. MILLER. Well, it will be leased by the city of Dallas to the
tenants.
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Mr. OBERSTAR. Yes. And you are the airport authority. Will the
lessees accumulate value for those gates? Will they have what is
called at other airports a majority in interest provision standing?

Ms. MILLER. I do not know. Mr. Cox, do you know?
Mr. OBERSTAR. Mr. Cox, what do you think.
Mr. COX. Congressman Oberstar, first of all the lease is already

done. Whatever is done in this form of legislation will not impact
those leases. Those leases exist today between the city and the car-
riers that have them. They have accommodations provisions in
them that spoke—I guess the point I am trying to make is Love
Field is not a residual airport like DFW. It is a compensatory air-
port. But the lease provisions allow, as they do today, for the city
to use those when they have the ability to pull them back, so they
would not have any more value than any other lease provisions
that exist in any other airport. It is not something that can be
traded on the open market. It is an actual lease and then they
have a grab-back provision that allows them to grab it back if there
is capacity and a need from another carrier.

Mr. OBERSTAR. I want to come to that, because there is some
mushy language here, at least in my reading of it. So incumbent
carriers will not acquire a vested authority or value over those
gates no matter what we do with the legislation.

Mr. COX. Not any more than they already have today, sir.
Mr. OBERSTAR. I think we should make that clear. Is there any

relationship between the 15 empty gates at DFW and the depar-
ture of Delta and the 12 gates to be demolished at Love Field?

Mr. COX. No.
Ms. MILLER. No.
Mr. COX. The 20 gates that the city of Dallas came to—and I

think it is important to understand this, because I do not think it
has gotten out—is that when the original master plan was done,
it assumed the Wright amendment was in place; all growth associ-
ated with that involved regional aircraft. When you take the
Wright amendment away, the assumption that regional aircraft are
going to be your growth category goes away. As such, they are
going to be flying on a larger aircraft. As such, you will have less
operations and quite honestly, we believe, diminish your safety con-
cern that you have.

But what it does in converse is it puts a lot more passengers in
and around Love Field, and the analysis that was done shows that
it basically cripples the infrastructure if you keep 32 gates. So it
found the equilibrium. That is what was originally anticipated in
the master plan at 32 gates: How much stuff can you put in that
sack, given the fact that the Wright amendment goes away and
given the fact that they will be flying on larger aircraft? And the
equilibrium is 20 gates. That is where the 20 gates came from. And
it required to get there a get-back from Southwest Airlines.

The other point that I think is lost in part of this conversation
is the give-back is lease provisions that exist but those are not ac-
tive gates. Those are office spaces and have been office spaces for
many, many, many years. So the reality of it is that there will be
some incremental growth, and there is capacity at Love Field, but
the 20 gates was a very scientific number designed to keep the
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equilibrium so you basically do not basically crash the roadway sys-
tem and the noise in and around Love Field.

Mr. OBERSTAR. That is very helpful. I have not had any expla-
nation of how 12 came to be the magic number, and your discus-
sion of regional aircraft is very enlightening.

Now, in the attachment the accommodation provisions, ″Lessee
does hereby agree to accommodate other airline. Lessee
says...terminal lease area at such times that will not unduly inter-
fere with airlines operating schedule.″

What does ″unduly interfere with″ mean? Who defines that? Is
that a term of art? A term of legislative art? A term of judicial art?

Ms. MILLER. Well it was crafted by the Dallas City Attorney’s Of-
fice and we understand, since it has never been tested, we have
never had a conflict; that we should, if we are responsible, create
a very clear policy using this as the template for how we are in real
terms going to be executing this. This gives us the authority to tell
an American or a Southwest, you have to make room. But I think
that like other airports like you cited that have this issue of capac-
ity, we need to have a very specific policy in place so that the ten-
ants have a clear expectation for how it is going to work when the
director says we shall make room for Jet Blue and this is how we
are going to do it.

Mr. OBERSTAR. Now, I listened carefully earlier when discussion
was made of Jet Blue, and Mr. Costello raised the issue, and I
think Dallas/Fort Worth says we have plenty of room for Jet Blue,
they can come here. But they may not want to come, just as South-
west had no intention of getting into DFW and paying those larger
landing fees. They are quite happy with 55 cents a thousand
pounds. Right, Mr. Kelleher?

Mr. KELLEHER. Well, Mr. Oberstar, our headquarters is at Love
Field. We have invested $200 million in Love Field and this agree-
ment calls for us to invest another $200 million. So it is a little dif-
ferent from the situation that any other carrier is in, and we have
been the ones that have been restricted at Love Field since 1979
by the Wright amendment.

Mr. OBERSTAR. I know you have been restricted at Love Field,
but you have been laughing all the way to the bank as well.

Mr. KELLEHER. Well, great service at low fares.
Mr. OBERSTAR. That is for sure, and a monopolistic position. And

in case of a conflict, lessee shall have preferential use of its termi-
nal lease area. If you combine rather vague language about
″unduly interfere with″ and section 4(a), ″in case of a conflict, les-
see shall have preferential use of both,″ now American and South-
west are in the catbird seat. You keep anybody out.

Mr. COX. Can I respond to that?
Mr. OBERSTAR. Anyone can respond to that.
Mr. COX. Congressman Oberstar, first, the way the language is

drafted I believe provides the city of Dallas greater flexibility than
the standard language that is drafted. Typically you find in those
leases that if you are turning your gates at six times a day, then
it is considered fully utilized and nobody else can get in. The way
it is drafted, I believe, provides the city of Dallas a greater hammer
to force an accommodation than most other places that would allow
that.
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The other thing is, I would argue the difference is that South-
west has been there for a long time and has an asset of which they
lease. Jet Blue does not. Nobody has ever guaranteed access into
an airport, as evidenced by all the other airports that I talked
about, but they are guaranteed access into the marketplace. And
8 miles down the road, Jet Blue can fly basically for free for 6
months, and we believe that is a good deal. And we believe nobody
is guaranteed access to any particular airport but should have ac-
cess to the marketplace. And with great capacity and an extremely
generous air service incentive plan, after multiple meetings with
Jet Blue we think they can make the right business decision. If
they really want to enter the marketplace, they can.

Mr. OBERSTAR. Well, Southwest was presented with a good busi-
ness decision in 1991 when we had the hearing and Kevin Fahey
said we can have 18 gates in 3 weeks for Southwest and we can
have a temporary basis and we can have permanent gates in 18
months. And Mr. Kelleher thought that was not as good of a deal
as he was ready to take.

Mr. KELLEHER. No, again because we do not want to split our op-
erations in our home city, and there are very few airlines, including
American Airlines in Chicago, if I may say that, Gerard, that want
to split their operations between two airports in the same city.
That is the reason why American does not serve Midway Airport,
Southwest Airlines does not serve O’Hare Airport, and that is why
the other spoke carriers do not want Peotone Airport because it
would be a horrible situation from Southwest Airlines’ standpoint
to have its headquarters, all of its investment at Love Field take
half of that service, send it to DFW Airport and suddenly have the
two airports competing against one another in the hands of the
same carrier. That is not true of Jet Blue or anyone else that wants
to come in.

Mr. OBERSTAR. Let’s understand something a little further. At
O’Hare when an international agreement is reached between the
United States and another country in a memorandum of under-
standing or an aviation trade open skies agreement, and it calls for
service into O’Hare for whatever, five, six or seven slots, American
and United both are told you will provide slots. I do not know if
you still have sales of slots, but you have to sell them, and then
you have to go and find other opportunities to replace your lost
slots. But this is the U.S. DOT telling you and United you give up
space so an international competitor can come in.

Now, supposing JetBlue makes the decision and we want to come
in and we want to get in the Love Field game, too. Who is going
to tell you, Mr. Kelleher, you have got to give up space to accommo-
date them?

Mr. KELLEHER. Well, first of all, there is no international treaty
that pertains to Love Field that sets aside the local situation with
respect to the proprietorship of the City of Dallas and how many
gates it wants to have.

Now, let me say this to you, Mr. Oberstar, if I might, the biggest
impediment and hindrance to Southwest Airlines’ expansion after
deregulation in 1978 was not being able to get gates at other air-
ports, whether you are talking about San Diego or Los Angeles, or
whatever might be the case. And that was because they had exclu-
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sive use leases where one carrier had 14 gates with five departures
a day and said, well, if we do all your ground handling charging
you three times as much as the city charges us, you can get in.

What is my point? Everybody suffers from trying to get into an
airport where there are not a lot of available gates. But the situa-
tion has improved today because airports haven’t gotten rid of their
exclusive use leases, which is the ones that we ran into and now
have these preferential use leases where there is room for another
carrier. And it is very simple. There is no mystery to the way it
operates, and that is, I can show you Southwest Airlines schedule,
gates schedule, we have got hours on our gates where another car-
rier could operate there, and that doesn’t have anything to do with
American or Continental Airlines either. And we would simply be
told by the City of Dallas, you have got these vacant spaces in your
gate utilization and by golly you are going to put another carrier
in there.

Mr. OBERSTAR. They would be able to tell you that?
Mr. KELLEHER. That is the way it works, oh, yes absolutely.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Well, the problem you defined just a moment ago

in your remarks is why I included in the 2001 reauthorization of
FAA a requirement that every airport have a master plan included
showing their competition the plan.

Would the parties agree to a legislative provision that would give
FAA authority to take all necessary actions to ensure that carriers
seeking to initiate or expand service at Love Field have access to
necessary facilities on reasonable terms? Provision could apply if
FAA determined that new entrants are unable, as you have de-
scribed moments ago, Mr. Kelleher, to obtain access under the pro-
cedures of this agreement?

Mr. KELLEHER. I will respond to that, if I might lead off, I am
sure the mayors have some comment about it, but, if that were the
case, then this agreement is a nullity because it is absolutely es-
sential to the cities of Dallas and Fort Worth for a variety of rea-
sons that the airport be limited to 20 gates, of which we gave up
5.

And if that went down the tube, then I am afraid there wouldn’t
be any agreement at all because certainly, American, Airlines and
DFW, one of their interests, Mr. Oberstar, is not jeopardizing the
status of DFW. So having a total of 20 gates is what assures that?
Because the gates limit the operations that you can have from Love
Field.

Mr. OBERSTAR. The language I am talking about would not—
well, we can make it clear that the FAA could not require an in-
crease in gates.

Mr. KELLEHER. You are saying the FAA could take gate leases
away?

Mr. OBERSTAR. To take necessary action to ensure that carriers
have access to necessary facilities.

Mr. KELLEHER. Well, would you apply that to Long Beach, Cali-
fornia where JetBlue has 27 out of 35 available slots? Would you
apply it to Washington National? Would you apply it to all airports
across the Nation? And the reason I ask is that is that that could
be very helpful to Southwest airlines.

It if were a general application.
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Mr. OBERSTAR. But there are other ways in which access can be
obtained at Washington National.

And, I don’t know about Long Beach. That might be an interest-
ing—but they don’t have the two airport scenario that we are deal-
ing with here.

Mr. KELLEHER. No they have the 41-slot scenario.
Mr. OBERSTAR. They do. Mr. Arpey.
Mr. ARPEY. Mr. Oberstar, I think that perhaps we haven’t ex-

plained it as artfully as we should have, or carefully as we should
have, but I think in the agreement that we have created, we are
doing precisely what you are asking for, and that is, that if any air-
line wants to come in and operate at Love Field on the same terms
and conditions that American, Southwest and Continental operate
today, this agreement says that the City of Dallas is going to make
that happen as part of this agreement.

So I think we have recognized your concern as we negotiated our
way through this, and so I think the current agreement does what
you are suggesting.

Mr. OBERSTAR. The language of the current agreement is to the
extent a new entrant carrier seeks to enter Love Field, the City of
Dallas will seek voluntary accommodations from its existing car-
riers to accommodate the new entrant’s service. There is no enforc-
ing mechanism.

Mr. MONCRIEF. But that is the first thing they do, Mr. Oberstar,
they seek voluntary response from the other carriers. If they don’t
do that, then the City of Dallas has the authority to come in and
say you will.

Mr. OBERSTAR. It goes on to say if its carriers are not able or not
willing, the City of Dallas agrees to require the sharing of pref-
erential leased gates.

But what is the—but it says this, agrees to require the sharing
of preferential leased gates, but then you go back to the attachment
to the accommodation, it says in the case of a conflict between
schedules of lessee and the requesting airline, the lessee shall have
preferential use. So you require on the one hand, but you vitiate
it on the other.

Mr. COX. Mr. Chairman, that, I mean, ranking member, that is
not different than virtually every other accommodation lease that
exists out there in the country.

Mr. OBERSTAR. We will take a look at that and see if that is the
case.

Mr. COX. You have the ability to accommodate, but you don’t
take rights away from somebody that had already contractually ob-
tained those rights, but you have the ability to try to, to the extent
possible, to fit those people in.

Mr. OBERSTAR. That is true in a majority of interest clauses.
Mr. ARPEY. I would like to add, though, on the JetBlue issue, and

we can start with the first provision and American will volunteer
today to open up gate space for JetBlue at Love Field.

Mr. KELLEHER. Tell them to come on down. We welcome them
too.

Mr. OBERSTAR. They are just a metaphor for some other carrier,
they happened to submit statement.
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One question, you said there will be room for expansion and you
cite the number of safety provisions, including one I am very happy
with, the runway safety area, you are going to spend $150 million,
150, $200 million for improvements where is that money coming
from? Is that going to come from increased landing fees? From
PFCs.

Ms. MILLER. It is a combination. We have discussed that.
Mr. OBERSTAR. AIP funds?
Ms. MILLER. It is a combination. We will apply for PFCs for

things that are eligible, whatever is not eligible, by PFCs, we will
increase landing fees, but we have made it clear that those are the
items that need to be upgraded, and that is what we estimate it
will cost.

Mr. OBERSTAR. Will landing fees go up from 55 cents?
Ms. MILLER. Yes, they will. They have to if you do that much of

an upgrade.
Mr. KELLEHER. Mr. Oberstar, can I clarify something? In connec-

tion with an earlier comment—not your comments—but there was
an error made by one of the representatives who said the taxpayers
of the City of Dallas are suffering because the landing fees are not
high enough at Love Field.

Love Field has a $40 million surplus, which has been paid in by
Southwest Airlines and there is not a taxpayer dollar of anyone in
the City of Dallas that goes into Love Field.

It is a free, free enterprise fund for the City of Dallas with no
Dallas taxpayer dollars in it, yesterday, 20 years ago, or the next
20 years.

Mr. OBERSTAR. I noted that comment earlier and your clarifica-
tion just raises a question I wanted to ask, and then I will con-
clude, Mr. Chairman.

And Mayor Miller, does the City of Dallas back the airport with
the general obligation authority of the city?

Ms. MILLER. No. It is an enterprise fund, and therefore it is only,
what backs it up is just the tenants paying their rents and paying
the landing fees and concession and parking revenues. That is
what pays——

Mr. OBERSTAR. It has, the airport has a surplus of operational
funds now, but if it should run a deficit that is the airport’s prob-
lem, the city doesn’t come in and back it up and bail it out?

Ms. MILLER. That is correct. We simply would raise the landing
fees to cover it or raise the concessions or parking fees or whatever
it took to cover the problem.

Mr. OBERSTAR. Thank you. I know I have gone on at length. But
it has been good. These are important questions to pursue.

Mr. MICA. I always swore if I ever got to be chairman, I would
let everyone have their say.

Why did I do that?
He was always fair to me so, you know, you get it in return. To

the two mayors, never serve on a city council with 435 members.
Mr. Filner.
Mr. FILNER. Just very briefly as someone standing between ad-

journment—as a Californian, watching the Texans, I am very im-
pressed with the product, although, Mayor Moncrief, you almost ru-
ined it when you said they can stop spending money, that is the
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airlines, on lawyers, lobbyists and campaign style advertisements.
You are striking at the economic engine of this city.

Mr. MONCRIEF. I know I am striking at the heart, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. FILNER. You don’t want us to hurt your economic engine.
Mr. Kelleher, bottom line, if I wanted to fly Southwest from San

Diego to Dallas, do I still have to go through Austin? And what
does the through ticketing do for me?

Mr. KELLEHER. No. Under this revision, Mr. Filner, you would be
able to fly from San Diego to some point within the Wright amend-
ment states, stay on the airplane and come through to Dallas. So
you might come San Diego El Paso Dallas which would make it a
little easier for not only you, but 2 million additional passengers.

Mr. FILNER. So I would not have to change airplanes?
Mr. KELLEHER. No, you would not have to change airplanes.
Mr. FILNER. While I have you, last question, what advice do you

have for us in dealing with both North Korea and Iran?
Mr. KELLEHER. Well, I will tell you, I am got not going to give

that to you unless this bill goes through.
Mr. FILNER. Yield back, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. MICA. That is five-party talks. This is six-party talks.
And you see the controversy, well, you have heard the con-

troversy I have cited. I guess you are in the league with O’Hare,
but Mr. Filner is no shrinking violet. If you want to really get into
controversy go down to southern California and hold a hearing on
moving San Diego Airport. That is good for a couple of days.

Mr. FILNER. Would you come down, all five of you to San Diego,
Lindbergh needs replacement and we can’t figure out what to do.

Mr. KELLEHER. It is that noose that is hanging there that wor-
ries me a little bit when you make a presentation.

Mr. MICA. A couple of final things, now last time I went, Mayor,
how long have you been Mayor of Dallas?

Ms. MILLER. 4 years.
Mr. MICA. I followed your commuter rail and light rail. You actu-

ally all got some of the money when central Florida went down the
tubes and you did a great job. I followed that project. And I am
really impressed with what you have done with both commuter rail
and light rail. I saw you bringing in a plan to bring in some transit
to, if it was not at Dallas when I visited, it is not there now?

Ms. MILLER. Well——
Mr. MICA. Or Love.
Ms. MILLER. Well, we have one line that goes through Dallas

northeast to Southwest, we are going to cross it with a brand new
line that will go by Love Field. We asked, actually, to connect it
directly to Love Field and we were turned down by the Federal
Government. They said that there weren’t enough passengers to
justify.

Mr. MICA. And we need to change that.
Mr. KELLEHER. That was because of the Wright amendment, Mr.

Chairman.
Mr. MICA. But we really need to look at that. We do. And it is

a chicken-or-egg kind of thing, which comes first and people will
use it. But we should almost have a requirement that any of our
major transportation aviation facilities are connected by mass tran-
sit.
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I will be glad to look at that.
I know you have sort of thrown in the towel, which I think I just

read about this this past week, but I am very, very impressed with
what I have seen down there.

That was the one thing that I was concerned with. And we might
want to revisit that. I will ask the staff, too, to see if we can talk
to folks about that.

And I don’t mind reaching PFC or other money to make the con-
nection.

And I see that is something you were looking at.
Ms. MILLER. Just so you know, because we couldn’t get it direct

to Love Field, it is going to be just west of it about half mile, 3
quarters of a mile. So what we are going to build is hopefully a
very slick people mover when you get on the train at Love, feel
kind of like when you get to Vegas, you go on the train and when
you get off and you will be at the DART station. Obviously, we
would love to build a terminal at Love Field and have direct serv-
ice.

Mr. MICA. Again, I think the connection is so important. I am
sorry, Mr. Oberstar.

Mr. OBERSTAR. Mr. Chairman, I am delighted with your com-
ment about using PFC funds to bring transit on to airports. That
was a bitter battle in 1990 in this committee, and among the air-
ports and users. And I was very much in favor of allowing the use
of PFC.

Mr. MICA. We have worked on some of these across the country.
That is one missing, and they have done some creative things I
think you are familiar with, Newark and some of the things that
were done up there.

In any event, that was one question. I don’t want to prolong this.
The final question, you have got two articles here, 17 provisions

in here, in the first article. If we repealed the Wright amendment,
why couldn’t you Institute through an agreement all of the provi-
sions in these articles?

Mr. COX. Mr. Chairman, we believe that in about five particular
provisions are all that is required of this Congress to allow the
agreement to go forward.

Mr. MICA. So are they in conflict with Federal law and which
ones?

Mr. COX. No, sir.
Mr. MICA. Then why couldn’t we repeal the Wright amendment?

I mean, there are people cutting these kind of deals all the time
around the country.

I have seen mish-mashes of this across the country.
What authority do you need other than the repeal, and which

five articles or what are those?
Mr. COX. The basic elements that need to be in the pieces of leg-

islation include the through ticketing provision, because that is the
amendment to the existing.

Mr. MICA. That is not in conflict with law?
Mr. COX. No. It is the Wright amendment, today, that prohibits

through ticketing and that would allow through ticketing.
Mr. MICA. There is one.
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Mr. COX. You need to, pursuant to this agreement, ensure that
Love Field remains a domestic airport and it does not become an
international airport. And that is a Federal legislative issue.

Mr. MICA. But can that also—is that prohibited now? Or is—that
is a designation, though, that you obtain from the Federal Govern-
ment without a change in law.

Mr. COX. Correct, but part of this deal is that Love Field will
never be opened up as an international airport given all of the in-
vestment. And so to ensure that some future Congress or some fu-
ture administration doesn’t go and decide——

Mr. MICA. Well, that is only as good as the next one because we
are going to pass open skies, and I will be flying planes from places
you never imagined in Europe into Love Field and Dallas. Next, go
ahead.

Mr. COX. The third is——
Mr. MICA. You would be surprised what we could get in there.
Mr. COX. It is a 20-gate limit. We believe, as Congressman Ober-

star indicated, to ensure that this remains limited, which is a criti-
cal element of this entire deal that that needs to be codified.

The fourth issue is repeal. And the fifth issue——
Mr. MICA. We are putting in law now, what codification?
Mr. COX. Codifying the local 20-gate limit. That is absolutely

critical.
Mr. MICA. What was your term, gate.
Mr. OBERSTAR. Control.
Gate limited.
Mr. MICA. There is a better one, the press has probably already

got it. So we are putting into law, codifying into law. But couldn’t
you do that anyways?

Mr. COX. We believe that we probably could.
Mr. MICA. Competitive. You would probably be sued. So this is

your cover?
Mr. COX. Correct. The fourth issue is actual repeal and then the

fifth issue is charters. And the charter issue, as exists in the
Wright amendment today, limits the amount of charters into and
out of Love Field to 10 charter flights a month.

Mr. MICA. You could do that yourself?
Mr. COX. We cannot.
Mr. MICA. You can’t? Why?
Mr. COX. Because we can’t restrict particular use.
Mr. MICA. You can’t restrict——
Mr. COX. Because the way it exists is we can control the gates,

but we can’t control somebody else that has access to the airport
to start chartering flights to wherever they want to and undermine
the 20-gate limit, and we cannot restrict certain flights in oper-
ation. We can restrict the size and capacity of the airport.

Mr. MICA. I have to check with staff, because I don’t really know
whether, you know, you can——

Well, again, I appreciate your going through that. I have not
really even read the totality of the agreement, but trying to figure
out, what needed to be codified and what could be done, because
I want to keep it as simple as possible.

And I think you would do, too, and whatever we do here, folks,
can be undone. I will be replaced by someone soon to the applause
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of many, and there will be new faces here doing this, and when we
do, now will be changed.

That is all I have. Mr. Chairman, ranking member.
Mr. Brown, welcome. Did you have any questions, comments?
Mr. Brown?
Mr. BROWN. No, Mr. Chairman, I am just sorry I was a little bit

late, but we have been following it sort of from a distance.
Mr. MICA. That means everything. And again your absence has

been appreciated. We want to note it for the record. There being
no further business before this subcommittee we appreciate all of
our witnesses and their participation. This subcommittee hearing
is adjourned.

Thank you.
Mr. KELLEHER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[Whereupon, at 5:50 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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